# UC Davis UC Davis Electronic Theses and Dissertations

# Title

Reassessing the role of exogenously applied iodine in agriculture: Lessons from almond, pistachio, and avocado field trials

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1jm2b8zj

**Author** Ostrowski, Daniel

**Publication Date** 

2024

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

Reassessing the role of exogenously applied iodine in agriculture: Lessons from almond, pistachio, and avocado field trials

By

## DANIEL OSTROWSKI

#### THESIS

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

#### MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Horticulture and Agronomy

in the

#### OFFICE OF GRADUATE STUDIES

of the

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

DAVIS

Approved:

Patrick H. Brown - Chair

Matthew Gilbert

Troy Magney

Committee in Charge

# Table of Contents

Abst	tract	iv
Acknowledgments		v
СНА	APTER 1: A REVIEW OF IODINE IN PLANTS AND HUMANS	1
1.1	Introduction	1
1.2 Io	odine in the natural environment	1
1.2	2.1 Iodine in soils	4
1.2	2.2 Loss from soils	5
1.3 P	Plant uptake	6
1.3	3.1 Roots	6
1.3	3.2 Leaves/Shoots	8
1.4 N	Mobility in plants	10
1.5 E	Effects of iodine on plants	11
1.5	5.1 Plant physiology and phenology	11
1.5	5.2 Stimulatory effect	12
	1.5.2.A Biomass and yield	13
	1.5.2.B Stress response	14
	1.5.2.C Floral attributes	16
1.5	5.3 Exercising a specific function	17
	1.5.3.A Inorganic antioxidant	18
1.6 Io	odine in the human diet	19
1.7 In	ntroduction to human iodine deficiency disorders (IDD)	20
1.7	7.1 Iodine deficiency – Global disparities	21
1.7	7.2 Fortification of salt	22
1.7	7.3 Current trends	23
1.8 B	Biofortification efforts	25
1.9 S	Summary	27
СНА	APTER 2: THE IMPACT OF IODINE ON PLANT DYNAMICS IN ALMOND. PIST	ACHIO AND
AVO	DCADO	28
2.1 Iı	ntroduction	28
2.1	1.1 Almond bloom	30
2.1	1.2 Pistachio alternate bearing	31
2.1	1.3 Avocado bloom	32

2.1.4 Study intent	33
2.2 Materials and Methods	34
2.2.1 Preliminary study on soil iodine concentrations in California	34
2.2.2 Field trial locations and characteristics	34
2.2.3 Almond – KG Ranch - Hail event 2023	37
2.2.4 Iodine source	39
2.2.5 Field trials	40
2.2.5.A Almond – KG Ranch, Madera, CA – Whole tree – Two-year pink bud foliar	40
2.2.5.B Almond – KG Ranch, Madera, CA – Whole tree – One-year pink bud foliar	42
2.2.5.C Almond – Westwind Ranch, Woodland, CA – Spur – Foliar	42
2.2.5.D Almond – KG Ranch, Madera, CA – Whole tree – Two-year fertigation	43
2.2.5.E Almond – KG Ranch, Madera, CA – Whole tree – Foliar post-harvest	44
2.2.5.F Pistachio – Firebaugh, CA – Whole tree – Fertigation	45
2.2.5.G Avocado – Temecula - Fertigation	46
2.2.6 CERES fixed-wing aircraft multispectral imagery analysis	47
2.2.6.A Individual tree segmentation	48
2.2.6.B Almond bloom analysis	48
2.2.6.C In-season reflectance comparison	49
2.2.7 Statistical software and analysis	50
2.3 Results	50
2.3.1 Soil iodine concentrations in California	50
2.3.2 Almond – Leaf tissue comprehensive nutrient analysis	52
2.3.3 Pistachio - Leaf tissue comprehensive nutrient analysis	52
2.3.4 Almond - Floral progression bloom assessment – Spurs at Westwind Ranch	53
2.3.4.A Nonlinear least squares fit regression analysis of bloom data	56
2.3.4.B Westwinds Ranch yield 2024	59
2.3.5 Almond - Floral progression bloom assessment – Whole tree at KG Ranch	61
2.3.5.A 2024 CERES aerial imagery bloom analysis	62
2.3.5.B KG Ranch 2024 yield for all trials	64
2.3.6 Pistachio - Fruit counts and 2024 yield	65
2.3.7 Avocado – Flower counts	67
2.3.8 Almond - CERES in-season multispectral imagery	67
2.3.9 Iodine analysis in plant tissues and soils	67
2.3.9.A Almond samples	67
2.3.9.B Pistachio samples	69
2.3.9.C Avocado samples	70
2.4 Discussion	70
2.4.1 California soil iodine concentrations	71
2.4.2 Potassium nitrate as delivery medium for iodine treatments	72
2.4.3 Fertigating iodine: overcoming soil organic matter sorption	73
2.4.4 Plant iodine concentration differential	75
2.4.5 Inorganic antioxidant - Foliar application timing	76
2.4.6 Shifting bloom in almonds	77
2.4.7 Remote sensing for treatment differentiation	78

### 2.6 Supplementary Documents

#### 2.7 References

#### Abstract

Iodine's impact on plant growth and development remains incompletely understood due to its volatility and its ubiquity in the environment that complicates experimental control. These attributes of iodine experimentation have led to a wide diversity of results that are often circumstantial to species, experimental growing conditions, and the rate, form, and timing of iodine application. Iodine has been demonstrated to improve the overall productivity of some plants in certain conditions when applied as a fertilizer, to influence bloom timing and fruiting, and to mitigate negative effects of salt and heavy metals in stress treatments. This study investigated iodine's potential as a biostimulant and beneficial nutrient in almond, pistachio, and avocado orchards. Field trials were conducted using a commercial potassium nitrate, iodine containing product (UltrasolINE, SQM) treatment applied via drip irrigation (0.154 kg I ha<sup>-1</sup>) and as a foliar spray (3.5 g I ha<sup>-1</sup>). Control treatments received identical rates of potassium nitrate without iodine (Ultrasol, SQM). Results showed no significant effects on plant tissue iodine concentration, leaf nutrient content, vegetation indices, or yield across all species. Iodine applied at pink bud in almond did not influence bloom timing at the individual spur or at the whole-tree level or have any yield impacts. Naturally occurring root iodine concentrations in almond and avocado were found to be higher than in leaves, consistent with observations in other species. This study contributes to the understanding of iodine's role in plant phenology and physiology, concluding that low-rate iodine application did not demonstrate agricultural benefits in the studied tree crops.

80

83

87

iv

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge the considerable help and support provided by my partner Natalie and our son Oliver in this research endeavor. She has provided countless hours of listening, but also excellent scientific and agricultural advice. Oliver is less than two months old and has so far been an excellent listener but is less helpful with advice. You both inspire me immensely.

I would also like to thank Dr. Patrick Brown for his support of this research and his aspirational way of thinking about agricultural problems. It has been a pleasure to work with and discuss the many challenges that arise when conducting research. Dr. Matthew Gilbert and Dr. Troy Magney have each been incredibly supportive in conducting this research as well as assembling it into a thesis. Without Dr. Gilbert's editing and advice, this thesis would be far less complete and well-rounded. Thank you all for pushing me down paths of uncertainty and encouraging me to seek answers for unexplained results.

To each and every one of you in the Patrick Brown lab I would like to say the warmest thank you for not only your physical labor, but for your emotional and scientific support, and for the wonderful friendships. Sydney Cho, Mickey Boone, Margherita Germani, Fray Traganza, Zac Ellis, Rosa Julius, Ezra Chan, Lauren Stockert, Ranjith Karunakaran, Ricardo Camargo, Teena Armstrong, Marcia Carvalho, Giulia Forghieri and Sean Bowlby. Y'all are wonderful humans, and I feel honored to call you friends.

I would also like to thank my grower-collaborators whom without, I would be unable to do this research. Olam, ATB Growers, Westwind Enterprises, and the Cornell family have all been incredibly supportive of this research.

V

I would also like to thank Sociedad Química y Minera (SQM) for funding this important research and for their interest in the role of iodine in agriculture. Thank you Katja Hora, Rick Loya and Doug Snyder.

# Chapter 1: A review of iodine in plants and humans

#### **1.1 Introduction**

The importance of iodine in human diets is well understood, but despite over 100 years of research, there is no consensus on if, why, and most importantly, how iodine impacts plant physiology and phenology. This literature review seeks to explore the diversity of work done to date on the impact of exogenously applied iodine on plant physiological processes and phenological patterns. Iodine is an essential element for humans, and as such, there is a large body of work exploring the potential for iodine biofortification that will not be specifically reviewed here. Iodine biofortification studies have been, and continue to be, carried out to ameliorate iodine deficiency disorders (IDD). These biofortification studies are foundational in describing iodine treatment effects on plants despite these effects often being unrelated to their biofortification goals and hypotheses. The results of these studies will be reviewed independent of biofortification results as the data covers a wider diversity of rates, application methods, and species than studies done without a biofortification intent. Research on iodine in plants began with observational studies and then attempts to prove iodine essentiality in the 1940s, biofortification efforts starting in the 2000s, and has now come full circle with a new modernday discussion of essentiality. However, the dialog surrounding plant nutrient essentiality has changed, and as such, the understanding of exogenous iodine's impacts on plants has followed. In this new era of plant nutrients, should iodine be considered a beneficial micronutrient, biostimulant, or possibly something in between?

#### 1.2 Iodine in the natural environment

Iodine, atomic number 53, is a chemical element with a large ionic radius of 220pm that precludes it from entering the crystal lattice of rock-forming minerals in the soil (Fuge, 2013). Due to this elemental property, it is estimated that the oceans contain around 70% of all iodine on the planet as its terrestrial fate is transitory (Fuge & Johnson, 2015). The majority of iodine in the ocean exists as iodate and is relatively uniform in distribution, except in the uppermost layer where biological activity depletes the free concentration (Tsunogai, 1971; Wong & Cheng, 2001). This depletion mainly occurs due to the sequestration iodine by seaweeds at often high levels – in one study, commercially available seaweeds were found to have iodine concentrations from 16 to over 8165 μg/g (Teas et al., 2004).

Brown kelp, *L. digitata*, has been found to accumulate a 30,000x concentration when compared to the seawater in which it grows (Leblanc et al., 2006). Yet despite this clear trend towards purposeful accumulation, the biological function of this iodine is still uncertain. It has been proposed that "Iodide accumulation leads to an apoplastic antioxidant reservoir that can be mobilized during oxidative stress" (Küpper et al., 2008). This was determined in an experiment that exposed kelp to stress and monitored the release of iodide into the medium (Küpper et al., 2008). This work has been largely corroborated in a study that found kelp had tightly regulated transcriptional responses and iodine metabolism in response to pathogens that largely resemble Pathogen Associated Molecular Patterns (PAMPs) in land plants (Cosse et al., 2009). This work in kelp is important because similarities between PAMPs in kelp and land plants suggest that some elements of pathogen response and antioxidant processes may be conserved as ancient mechanisms. Iodine's function as an inorganic antioxidant in kelp might inform our understanding of stress reduction-associated responses in plants.

The biological release of iodine into the atmosphere plays a crucial role in terrestrial deposition, although it is currently considered less significant than non-biological photochemical release (Fuge & Johnson, 2015; Saiz-Lopez et al., 2012). Nevertheless, transect studies of marine boundary layers have demonstrated that soluble organic iodine can be a major component—and sometimes even a dominant one—of marine aerosols (Baker, 2005). It has been suggested that the volatilization of organic iodine serves as the primary source of atmospheric iodine, which subsequently undergoes photooxidation to form inorganic iodine (Carpenter, 2003). However, a global precipitation study found that most iodine in precipitation is associated with organic compounds, indicating that not all atmospheric iodine undergoes photooxidation before deposition (Gilfedder et al., 2007). Once in the atmosphere, iodine can deposit into the terrestrial environment through both dry and wet precipitation processes.

Iodine present in terrestrial soil is most often associated with deposition from the sea, either current or historical, and especially so in area that were once oceans (Fuge & Johnson, 2015). Rainfall, fog, and direct spray deposit iodine, but the terrestrial iodine content has not been shown to directly correlate with distance from the sea coast (Johnson, 2003). Samples closer to the sea are often associated with higher deposition, but variability is still often extreme, and coastal precipitation leaching iodine in these areas can also skew results as the increased deposition is offset by the increased precipitation (Jensen et al., 2019). Research mapping soil iodine concentration on large islands such as New Zealand and Ireland often shows a strong association between distance to coast and concentration, but this is less prevalent in continental countries (Hansford Shacklette & Boerngen, 1984a; Jensen et al., 2019; Smyth & Johnson, 2011). In China, soil type, organic matter (OM) percentage, climate, and precipitation amount

were more indicative of soil iodine content compared to the distance to the coast (Liu et al., 2024).

#### 1.2.1 Iodine in soils

Once iodine is deposited onto a soil, its fate is most associated with the organic matter content of the soil (Fuge & Johnson, 1986; Hu et al., 2012). This is due to the affinity for inorganic iodine to associate with organic matter and to a lesser extent, aluminum and/or iron oxides. Inorganic iodine (I<sup>-</sup> and IO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) was found to strongly associate with all sizes of humic acids to produce organoiodine (Bowley et al., 2016). In soils with low organic matter, I<sup>-</sup> and IO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> remained unchanged after 60 days compared to OM-sufficient soils where inorganic iodine was transformed into organoiodine (Yamaguchi et al., 2010). It was also found that soil microbial populations were not essential for IO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to make the transformation into organoiodine, but occurred faster (1d) with microbial activity. The conversion of I<sup>-</sup> to organoiodine in terrestrial environments is likely explained by microbial activity (Yamaguchi et al., 2010).

In studies employing methods to reduce biological activity (use of antibiotics, autoclaving, fumigating, desiccating,  $\gamma$ -irradiation, anaerobic treatments, and heat treating) There was reduced iodide sorption (Behrens, 1982; Bors, 1992; Fukui et al., 1996). Suzuki et al. (2012) found that an alphaproteobacterium was able to oxidize iodide (I<sup>-</sup>) to molecular iodine (I<sub>2</sub>) through the use of a multicopper enzyme laccase (Suzuki et al., 2012). Seki et al. (2012) found that, indeed, bacterially derived laccase strongly increased sorption of iodide (Seki et al., 2013). Iodine is held relatively strongly in the soil with an estimated 10% remaining water-soluble (Fuge & Johnson, 1986). This is strongly influenced by soil type and one experiment with soils from a variety of areas in Slovakia found on average: 38 % of iodine was associated with organic matter, 37.7 % was mineral-bound and only 4.4 % of the total soil iodine was water-

soluble (Duborská et al., 2020). However, in flooded conditions, iodine can become extremely available and cause toxicity symptoms known as "Akagare reclamation disease" in Japan. This is thought to occur because of the increase in reduction of  $IO_3^-$  to I<sup>-</sup> and I<sub>2</sub> in flooded and anaerobic rice fields (Sheppard & Motycka, 1997; Yamaguchi et al., 2006).

#### **1.2.2 Loss from soils**

Iodine is known to volatilize from soils, with rates of volatilization depending on the soil type and the specific form of iodine present (ex: Weng et al., 2009). Additionally, plants can release methyl iodide (CH<sub>3</sub>I), which is hypothesized to be a detoxification response (Saini et al., 1995). Both soil and plant volatilization contribute to reduced soil iodine levels and help explain differences in soil iodine content across geographic regions. Methyl iodide volatilization has gained attention due to its role in degrading ozone molecules in the troposphere (Davis et al., 1996). In response to climate change, efforts are underway to map and quantify the global iodine budget, aiming to minimize iodine release from terrestrial sources. Soil and plant volatilization are particularly important because they are more manageable through plant breeding and land-use practices compared to marine iodine volatilization.

Although the majority of global iodine resides in the oceans, terrestrial iodine is transient and can be re-volatilized, allowing it to travel far from marine sources (Fuge, 1990). Terrestrial iodine sources, often tied to agricultural activities, are primarily mediated by soil bacteria. Bacterial activity has been linked to methyl iodide release, although the underlying mechanisms and purposes remain unclear (Amachi et al., 2003). In controlled laboratory experiments, fungi also volatilized CH<sub>3</sub>I (Ban-nai et al., 2006). These biologically driven processes contribute significantly to the global iodine flux and provide insight into regional variations in soil iodine concentrations.

Plant release of CH<sub>3</sub>I occurs in a many situations and has been most heavily studied in rice production systems where it is estimated that 5% of global atmospheric methyl iodide arises (Redeker et al., 2000). Rice plants release the majority of the methyl iodide as a theorized detoxification mechanism to deal with the high availability of iodine in flooded environments, but this release varies by rice variety (Redeker et al., 2000). Targeted knockout of a specific (OsHOL1) gene in rice led to a drastic reduction in methyl iodide production. The function of the HOL gene is uncertain, though it has been proposed that HOL genes are responsible for glucosinolate metabolism and defense against phytopathogens (Carlessi et al., 2021; Nagatoshi & Nakamura, 2009). Different varieties of rice have been shown to have variable tolerance to iodine, but the tolerance mechanism is still being understood. Rice plants under a high IO3<sup>-</sup> treatment had increased reduction activity and reduced iodine concentrations in the stem due to methyl iodide production. However, counterintuitively reduced shoot iodine concentration had no relationship to variety tolerance as increased reduction activity and lower shoot concentrations were linked to decreased tolerance rather than increased tolerance (Kato et al., 2013). This is an important finding as it shows that rice plants able to tolerate high iodine are passively tolerating it rather than actively detoxifying their environment. Though rice may not be indicative of all plants, understanding the mechanisms behind methyl iodide production in this species can help to improve the understanding of global iodine cycling at large. This knowledge can also add to the understanding of plant interaction with iodine more broadly.

#### 1.3 Plant uptake

#### 1.3.1 Roots

Iodine is taken up by plant roots in the  $IO_3^-$  and  $I^-$  forms, though there is evidence that there is preferential uptake of the  $I^-$  form. As discussed above, Kato et al., 2013 found that rice

roots actively reduce IO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to T, and in spinach it was observed that the uptake of T was greater than IO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (Humphrey et al., 2019; Kato et al., 2013). Borst Pauwels, 1961 found that plants are better able to tolerate IO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> compared to T and this is likely because the intermediary reduction step slows down the uptake and prevents phytotoxicity. However, Weng et al., (2008) showed that iodine form uptake preference was concentration-dependent, with low concentrations favoring IO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> uptake (Weng et al., 2008). With the use of metabolic inhibitors that limited ATP synthase function to effectively limit symplastic uptake, both Weng and Humphrey showed low uptake at low concentrations. This transitioned to primarily passive apoplastic movement as external iodine concentration increased, regardless of form. Both theorized this was due to the saturation of active transport sites. However, if organic forms of iodine are also considered, different species display a diversity of "preferred forms," whether in sweet corn, lettuce, barley, pea, spinach, or whether grown hydroponically or in soil (Grzanka et al., 2021; Halka et al., 2019; Smoleń et al., 2021; Umaly & Poel, 1971; Weng et al., 2008).

Iodine uptake studies are frequently performed on different species of plants, and the results are often unique to the species used. A study looking at root iodate reduction activity found that rice and barley were nearly identical in activity. In contrast, soybeans showed almost no iodine reduction activity and yet maintained low root and shoot concentrations (Kato et al., 2013). Hydroponically grown wheat, lettuce, and tomato all showed uptake of iodine and incorporation into proteins in shoots and leaves, while maize in the same experiment showed no iodinated proteins in its organs (Kiferle et al., 2021). This non-uniform response is observed in different varieties of the same species of plant that show marked differences in iodine tolerance. It was demonstrated that iodine sensitive rice variety *"Nipponbare"* had increased root iodine reduction activity and reduced shoot concentration, but increased foliar toxicity symptoms when

compared to the less sensitive variety "*Gohyakumangoku*" (Kato et al., 2013). The diversity in passive and active uptake of different species in the same iodine environment indicates that some varieties and some species of plants actively take in iodine, but active uptake is not dose responsive. This hints at the idea that plants can utilize iodine, but at an incredibly low rate that, once exceeded, turns into an element needing exclusion or active removal via volatilization.

Rice and barley appear to deal with high iodine concentrations in an active manner, whereas soybean appears to utilize an exclusion strategy (Kato et al., 2013). Kato et al. (2013) concluded that species' differences in reduction activity or decreased shoot concentration do not necessarily correlate with increased tolerance. Only one other soybean study has been carried out with exogenous iodine with the focus of that study being to understand stress response rather than iodine uptake. This study found that all iodine treatments caused a significant increase in SOD (~4x rise in mol./mg protein/min) while heat stress alone did not raise SOD (Gupta et al., 2016). Stress response will be discussed in detail later, but these findings suggest that patterns of iodine uptake, utilization, and detoxification vary among species. They also indicate that the proposed benefit of iodine application for stress mitigation could be species-dependent or as a byproduct of a stress response to iodine rather than a direct benefit from the element itself.

#### 1.3.2 Leaves/Shoots

Iodine is deposited onto terrestrial environments in both wet and dry forms. The primary form of iodine in rain and snow was found to be organically associated, accounting for 56% of total deposited iodine (Gilfedder et al., 2007). In the air, gaseous iodine is most often in the form of I<sub>2</sub>, but due to the highly reactive nature of iodine, the composition and species of iodine vary spatially and temporally around the globe (Baccarini et al., 2020; Koenig et al., 2020; Puentedura et al., 2012). Iodine is readily absorbed by stomata and cuticular waxes during deposition- a trait

that has been studied to better understand the impact of nuclear fallout and the release of radionuclides (Shaw et al., 2007; Tschiersch et al., 2009; Yanai et al., 2022).

The sorption of iodine is most often highly localized, though in some cases, such as tomatoes, foliar iodine has been found to move between organs (Landini et al., 2011). Deposition from radioactively labelled iodine vapor in a controlled environment was found to readily be absorbed by leafy vegetables such as endive, curly kale, spinach, and leaf lettuce (Tschiersch et al., 2009). The rates of sorption differed by species, with spinach having 3x the iodine concentration than leaf lettuce and curly kale, 4x more than endive, 9x more than head lettuce and over 30x more than white cabbage. The authors suggest this marked difference in absorption was due to a mix of leaf area index, stomatal conductance, and plant morphology, as each factor independently did not explain the differences. Absorbed iodine was only decreased by 10% when washed with deionized water, indicating that it was effectively bound to the cuticular waxes on the leaf surface or was rapidly incorporated within the leaves. Differentiating between adsorbed and absorbed is important to understand the possible function of iodine though no studies to our knowledge have addressed this issue.

In biofortification studies where foliar applied iodine was directly applied to nectarines, there was no significant decrease in iodine concentration when the peels were removed, indicating that the iodine application was not bound to the exterior of the fruit but was transported into the interior (Humphrey et al., 2019). However, in apples, the exact opposite was found, with the majority of the iodine being adhered to or within the peel and not in the flesh (Budke et al., 2021). In globally dispersed field trials looking at biofortification potential in wheat, rice, and maize, iodine was of higher concentration in the bran and embryo than in the endosperm (Cakmak et al., 2017). These trials were all sprayed 2-3x with KIO<sub>3</sub>, but there was no

indication in the paper about the timing of these sprays and if the KIO<sub>3</sub> came in direct contact with the fully formed edible portion or if it was transported, either actively or passively, to the developing grain. Spinach was found to absorb and store foliar iodine treatments within the sprayed leaves with <2% of applied iodine moving to younger leaves after 9 days (Humphrey et al., 2019). In most cases, foliar-applied iodine or environmentally deposited iodine appears to become fixed to the external surfaces of plants-though it is not known if it is simply sorbed or actively iodinated by an unknown mechanism.

Shaw et al. (2007) found that iodine applied as KI was strongly sorbed into the cuticle of broad bean (*Vicia faba L.*) with a retention coefficient 5.5x higher than expected based on previous work in ryegrass and clover (Angeletti & Levi, 1977; Muller & Prohl, 1993; Shaw et al., 2007). The expected leaf sorption was based on simple anion exchange of I<sup>0</sup> from KI, but the authors theorized that the I<sup>0</sup> might need to be oxidized to  $IO_3^-$ , which has a stronger tendency to sorb to the leaf cuticles (Ashworth & Shaw, 2006). It's also important to note that broad bean (*Vicia faba L.*) has 85% of its stomatal density on the adaxial (upper) surface of the leaf, so high accumulation might be, once again, species-specific.

#### **1.4 Mobility in plants**

The mobility of iodine in plants is dependent on the plant organ where it enters, and specific plant species appear to behave differently. Once iodine has entered the plant through the roots, it moves upwards in xylem vessels (Blasco et al., 2008; Caffagni et al., 2012; Landini et al., 2011; Smoleń et al., 2014; Zhu et al., 2003). Iodine is also of low mobility in many species since it is often preferentially highest in the organ where it enters the plant (Gonzali et al., 2017). In tomatoes, iodine is slightly mobile in the phloem as leaf applications lead to increased

concentrations in fruit (Landini et al., 2011). It was also found that lettuce leaves treated with iodine had higher concentrations of iodine in the roots than the control, reaffirming that some phloem mobility is possible (Smoleń et al., 2014). However, iodine mobility seems to be highly influenced by the growing system. Medrano-Macias, (2016) found that growing plants in a hydroponic environment with high iodine availability led to high uptake, which could be responsible for the differences seen between studies.

It has also been demonstrated that the rate of methyl iodide production varies by tissue and species (Itoh et al., 2009). Unfortunately, many studies have not considered loss of iodine from the tissue. The assumption of iodine accumulation used by all studies to date fails to account for known methyl iodide production that varies widely by plant organ, species, and growth environment.

#### 1.5 Effects of iodine on plants

The main challenge in ascertaining the effects of iodine on plant growth and development is the wide diversity of responses that differ between species and growth systems. Species, timing, and the method and form of iodine applied all seem to have a significant impact on the outcomes. The traditional nutrient essentiality paradigm that restricts plant nutrients to those that can be demonstrated to be essential is reductionist and lacks the nuance needed. Brown et al, (2022) proposed an expansion of the definition to include both essential elements and beneficial nutrients (Brown et al., 2022). Research to date on exogenous iodine application to plants appears to fit far more neatly in this expanded definition due to its unique elemental properties and diverse experimental outcomes.

#### 1.5.1 Plant physiology and phenology

In studies of the role and function of iodine, the choice of species of plant being studied and growth system is highly relevant to the results observed. Iodine is also strongly bound to organic matter in the soil, and as such, the availability of applications in hydroponic systems differs greatly from that in soil/field culture. There are a few comprehensive reviews of plant response to iodine applications with the best summarization being offered by Medrano-Macias et al. (2016). Studies thus far have noted a diversity of responses but without any explanation for the cause of these differences. For example, Borst Pauwels (1961) found a 10-18% increase in dry matter yield of tomatoes treated with various rates and forms of iodine, but could not differentiate whether this was a "stimulatory" effect or evidence of "exercise {ing} a specific function". Borst Pauwels (1961) also noted that response varied greatly between species, with different rates and forms, between years in their experiments, and found that their control plants were "relatively high in iodine content". This experiment foreshadows many of the challenges and observations made by other researchers between 1961 and the present day.

#### **1.5.2 Stimulatory effect**

Responses measured in plant metrics, such as dry weight, are hard to disentangle without an understanding of the function or mechanism of iodine action. Most authors to date have applied iodine and then measured differential response to elucidate mechanisms or to biofortify crops for human consumption. The application of exogenous iodine might also have cascading impacts that complicate interpretation. For example, Hageman et al., (1942) found an increase in fruit number but a significant decrease in fruit size in tomato plants treated with iodine (overall significant decrease in total dry weight). Kiferle et al. (2022) in contrast found an increase in tomato fruit yield dry weight as well as an increase in fruit number with plants treated with KIO<sub>3</sub>,

indicating that small fruit size was not a consistent consequence of iodine application. The iodine literature is full of these conflicting results that need to be individually explained in the context of each experiment.

#### 1.5.2.A Biomass and yield

Leafy vegetables generally have an increase in biomass with the addition of low rates of iodine in soilless culture (Blasco et al., 2013; Weng et al., 2008; Zhu et al., 2003). Tomatoes are noted to have a variety of responses that are often not reproducible with variations in growing method and iodine form and rate. Halka et al. (2019) found no difference in yield or mass of tomato plants grown in soilless culture (peat/vermiculite) when treated with KIO<sub>3</sub> or KI applied at the beginning of florescence. Kiferle et al. (2022) on the other hand, found a marked increase in plant height and shoot fresh weight of tomato plants grown with 10 µM of KIO<sub>3</sub> added in a hydroponic system following transplant. A possible explanation was that all iodine was bound to the peat in the Halka study. Caffagni et al, (2011) found in a similar experimental design, a 50-70% decrease in tomato biomass and fruit biomass in all treatments with both KIO<sub>3</sub> and KI ranging from 2.34-23.36 µM. Smolen et al. (2015) found no increase or decrease in fruit yield with the addition of 7.88 µM of KIO<sub>3</sub> or KI in a hydroponic system starting at the beginning of florescence. In a soilless culture (sand) experiment, Hageman et al. (1942) found a 24 µM rate of KI had no impact on plant dry weight but significantly reduced average fruit weight from 5.8 to 4.9 grams. In wheat, Caffagni et al (2011) found a 40-55% decrease in biomass in greenhouse grown wheat and Mao et al. (2014) found an 8% reduction in grain yield of field grown wheat treated with iodine. On the other hand, in a global field study, Cakmak et al. (2017) found no reduction in grain yield up to a rate of 5 mg I kg<sup>-1</sup> with both KI and KIO<sub>3</sub>, but did find a

reduction in yield above 5 mg I kg<sup>-1</sup> with KI, but not KIO<sub>3</sub>. Each study taken alone often presents interesting data that is rarely corroborated between studies, growing systems, plant species, or plant variety. For this reason, a possible indirect effect of exogenous iodine application has been proposed as an explanation for disparate and non-replicable results.

Lehr et al. (1958) theorized that iodine enhanced the rate of nitrification in the soil after observing high nitrate accumulation in plants with burnt leaves. This would imply that the increase in dry matter seen in some iodine studies was an indirect effect. The addition of KIO<sub>3</sub> or KI to hydroponically grown spinach significantly increased the NO<sub>3</sub> percentage in the leaf sample dry weight but not the dry matter yield (Smoleń & Sady, 2012). Blasco et al. (2010) found that IO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> causes stimulation of nitrate reductase in plant roots, but in lettuce, this did not lead to a higher accumulation of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> in leaf tissue but only to higher biomass. In hydroponic strawberry, Li et al. (2017) found that IO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> led to a significant increase in above root biomass but also a 5%-15% increase in fruit nitrate, a negative quality metric for strawberry.

#### 1.5.2.B Stress response

Summarizing physiological responses to iodine from observational studies is difficult due to the diversity of responses. More recently, gene expression and plant metabolite analysis have been used to better understand the effects an iodine application elicits in a plant. To determine if iodine can help mitigate stress response from NaCl, Kiferle et al., (2022) monitored the relative expression of genes commonly associated with salt stress- particularly in ABA-related responses and in oxidation management. In the ABA response category, *AREEB1*, *lptg2*, *LEA*, *and Hat9* were monitored. In oxidation mitigation, *CAT*, *SOD*, *cAPX*, *and GR* were measured. In this study, no measurement of plant stress associated with the NaCl treatments was measured, and the

stress was inferred. Measurements were made at 72hrs and also at 8 weeks after treatments were applied. It was found that, generally, iodine reduced the expression of stress-related genes at 72 hours after treatment with NaCl. However, at 8 weeks after treatment, this trend was less pronounced. Additionally, at 8 weeks, the plants receiving iodine but not receiving NaCl treatments showed a higher expression of stress-related genes, indicating that iodine alone could be stress-inducing, even at 0.2  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M rates. The relative expression of SOD was 2.5X that of the untreated control in the 10  $\mu$ M KIO<sub>3</sub> treatment (Kiferle et al., 2022). This could be assumed given the well-documented toxicity levels experienced by many researchers, but at 10  $\mu$ M, this is far below what is considered a phytotoxic dose. This rise in SOD in response to IO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was also seen in hydroponic lettuce not under a stress treatment but only at the higher rates of 40  $\mu$ M and 80  $\mu$ M (Blasco et al., 2011). Iodine concentration "tolerance" variation has been established by many authors including (Borst Pauwels, 1961), so variable response to iodine alone is expected.

In other studies looking at iodine impact on antioxidant production under stress, control treatments were entirely untreated and made no measure of iodine impacts without the stressors (Gupta et al., 2015; Leyva et al., 2011). Without this important check, it's impossible to disentangle if iodine also impacted antioxidants like was demonstrated in Kiferle et al (2022). Using NaCl as a stressor, Leyva et al. (2011) concluded that the addition of iodine alleviated some of the stress due to an overall decrease in the loss of dry weight biomass and boosted the activity of antioxidant enzymes such as *SOD*, *APX*, *DHAR* and *GR* when compared to the treatments only receiving NaCl. This impact on biomass was then replicated and confirmed by Blasco et al. (2013). Using cadmium as a stressor, Gupta et al, (2015) did not measure plant biomass or plant yield, but inferred that an increase in SOD in cadmium and iodine-treated plants

and a decrease in hydrogen peroxide and lipid peroxidation supported their hypothesis that iodine could alleviate cadmium stress.

These collective results indicate that iodine does alter the stress response of the species studied, but alone, iodine can also cause a stress response, even at low doses in some species. This particular mechanism could be interpreted as stress priming or biostimulantory rather than as a beneficial element. More work would need to be done to show this effect since a criterion of stress priming is postulated to be that the initial stimulus is stored as a 'memory' until a repeated exposure induces an alternate response (Martinez-Medina et al., 2016). The timing of the stressor, as well as the timing of iodine application, would also be important to better understand as most studies apply both stressor and iodine at the same time, making a priming effect delusive.

#### **1.5.2.** C Floral attributes

Flower formation, bloom timing, and successful fruit development are all vital in many crops where the fruit or seed is the product of interest. Understanding the mechanisms of floral emergence and resulting set success opens the possibility of agronomic intervention for more productivity. In Borst Pauwels (1961), the author noted that an iodine dose of 0.1 ppm advanced the earing of wheat and oats "by a few days". (Lehr et al., 1958) noted that iodine-treated plants flowered earlier and ascribed it to the "more rapid growth of the experimental plants" seen in that study. These early studies suggested a potential impact of iodine on flowering timing, but since then, very few authors have worked to better understand if iodine impacts bloom. Some authors apply iodine at bloom time, so any potential impacts on flowering timing would not be seen (Ex: Caffagni et al., 2012). While others apply iodine significantly before flowering and many fail to gather floral attributes such as first inflorescence, number of inflorescences, set percentage, etc.,

as they were not an expressed goal of the study despite fruit number (yield) often being reported (Ex: Hageman et al., 1942; Landini et al., 2011).

Kiferle et al. (2021) found a hastening of bloom in arabidopsis plants treated with iodine, as well as an increase in the number of siliques/plant. This led to a remarkable 35-50% increase in seed production for KIO<sub>3</sub> treated plants. The authors theorized that because plant biomass production increased in iodine-treated plants in addition to an earlier flowering time, iodine had a "flowering-promoting" effect and did not induce a stress response that led to earlier flowering as a stress evasion mechanism. In *Pelargonium hortorum L.*, both foliar, soil and combined applications of KI increased the number and diameter of inflorescences (EL-Sayed, 2019). This finding is counter to most studies where the use of KI is often associated with negative responses from plants. In addition to positive flowering impacts, this study also found increases in total chlorophyll, leaf Nitrogen %, leaf phosphorus %, and an increase in plant dry weight. The role of iodine in flowering dynamics is presently unknown, and the form of iodine, the species of plant being studied, and the timing of application are likely to be critical to elucidate the nuances of iodine's potential impact on flowering. For example, in hydroponic lettuce, Smolen et al. (2023) studied the relative expression of the Adagio 3 gene, which is known for its role in flowering initiation. They found that the addition of KIO<sub>3</sub> did not induce the Adagio 3 gene, and iodinetreated lettuce did not show any differences in flowering dynamics counter to expectations. Particularly since the same author found that the organic iodine compound 5-ISA caused a differential stimulation of lettuce inflorescences (though possibly unpublished) (Smoleń et al., 2019).

#### **1.5.3 Exercising a specific function**

Traditionally, the idea of a nutrient serving a 'specific function' would have been constrained to the idea of nutrient essentiality to complete a plant's lifecycle. However, as discussed above, many different mineral elements and nutrients are often present in plants and influence their growth and behavior despite not being labeled essential.

Plants actively transport iodine from the soil into their roots, but this transport also transitions to majority passive at a slightly increased soil concentration (Humphrey et al., 2019; Weng et al., 2008). This and many studies showing decreased benefits as rates of iodine increase are all evidence that any benefit from iodine is accomplished with incredibly low rates. This is typically referred to as a biphasic dose response or hormesis where a toxic substance can be beneficial at low doses (Jalal et al., 2021; Mattson, 2008). Incredibly small rates themselves do not rule out the functional effect of iodine, as the element molybdenum is essential for many redox reactions in plants but is needed at an incredibly low rate when compared to other micronutrients (Kaiser et al., 2005). There is also a possibility that the iodine response in plants is multifaceted, with low doses serving in an antioxidant or biostimulant capacity and higher doses acting as a stress primer. A spectrum of responses based on rate might explain some of the variability seen across the literature- including in experiments with similar designs.

#### **1.5.3.A Inorganic antioxidant**

If iodine were to function as an inorganic antioxidant as demonstrated in kelp, would this be considered as serving a specific function or simply a strategy to deal with stress? In the presence of species-specific low concentrations of iodine, plants could utilize iodine's antioxidant capacity to reduce ROS at a limited energetic cost. However, in the absence of iodine, alternative methods for dealing with ROS would be utilized. This might explain why Kiferle et al. (2022) found SOD relative expression in high NaCl environments 72 hours after treatment was higher in control treatments when compared to those treated with iodine at low rates (0.2  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) (Kiferle et al., 2022). Iodine could have reduced the burden of antioxidant requirement by the plant. In the same study at 8 weeks after treatment, the expression of SOD was no different than the control indicating that under continuous salinity stress, iodine alone did not mitigate all ROS. In Leyva et al. (2011), the relative expression of SOD after 21 days following treatment was tested and confirmed the Kiferle et al. (2022) findings even when the rates of IO3<sup>-</sup> were far higher (20  $\mu$ M, 40  $\mu$ M, and 80  $\mu$ M).

#### **1.6 Iodine in the human diet**

Iodine is an essential element for humans because of its role in the thyroid. Thyroid function is regulated, or even throttled, by thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), and the presence of TSH causes increased mobilization of iodine to the thyroid. Iodine is an important component of two hormones in the thyroid: thyroxine and triiodothyronine. These hormones are critical for the creation of proteins and enzyme activity and for regulating metabolism. Additionally, during fetus development and in early childhood, iodine is especially important for skeletal and nervous system development (National Institutes of Health, 2024) The need for a constant but small supply of iodine means humans must consume 100+mcg for infants and adults and >220mcg for pregnant and lactating women each day to be sufficient (The Institute of Medicine, Food, and Nutrition Board, 2001).

Humans receive all their dietary iodine from consumed food, but the iodine content of this food is typically, and naturally, extremely low. Seaweed and seafood such as fish from the ocean have the highest levels of naturally occurring iodine as these organisms typically concentrate iodine from the seawater (Zimmermann, 2009). Iodine is present in some bread

dough conditioners and cleaning agents used in the food industry, and some food products have higher iodine content because of this (National Institutes of Health, 2024). Animal feed is sometimes supplemented with seaweed or iodine supplements, and iodine can also be used as a cleaning agent in the dairy process. The inconsistency of use across producers means the concentration in food products is extremely variable; one study of US food products found dairy products had between 28% - 231% of daily iodine requirement (Pennington & Young, 1990). Soil iodine is often extremely low in areas not receiving direct deposition from the ocean, and plant uptake and allocation into consumed parts reflect this (Fuge & Johnson, 2015).

A lifelong daily requirement paired with low availability in most diets gives rise to human deficiency and the resultant disorders termed iodine deficiency disorders (IDD).

#### **1.7 Introduction to human iodine deficiency disorders (IDD)**

As explained in detail above, iodine is a human essential element because of its role in the synthesis of hormones in the thyroid. Iodine deficiency disorders (IDD) refer to a collection of human diseases and disorders caused by a deficiency of iodine intake. There can be functional and developmental abnormalities caused by deficiency that can cause: "endemic goiter and cretinism, endemic mental retardation, decreased fertility rate, increased perinatal death, and infant mortality"(Delange, 1994). It has also been labeled as one of "the most common preventable causes of mental deficiency in the world today"(Delange, 1994).

A meta-analysis of 18 studies in 1994 found children with iodine deficiency averaged 13.5 points lower on IQ tests (Walker et al., 2007). In countries with low levels of iodine deficiency, children with urinary iodine higher than recommended had higher IQs than those with lower iodine, albeit not deficient. Indicating even a mild deficiency has outsized consequences on IQ (Santiago-Fernandez et al., 2004). However, with many human nutrition

studies, it is hard to draw a direct correlation between diet and outcomes. For instance, the authors of this second study noted that those children with higher IQ scores and high iodine intake also consumed dairy products in a higher amount. The dairy was likely a source of much of the iodine, but also an indicator of a more nutritious or sufficient diet, which are both likely to influence IQ. Despite these difficulties in ascribing a correlation for the benefits of iodine *beyond* sufficiency, there is a dearth of research showing the negative impacts of iodine deficiency.

#### 1.7.1 Iodine deficiency – Global disparities

Iodine is a unique, essential dietary element because improvements in socio-economic status and "development" do not necessarily decrease levels of human deficiency (Biban & Lichiardopol, 2017). In 2007, 52% of people in Europe were iodine deficient, and though this number has decreased, there is still a high prevalence of iodine deficiency in Europe (Ittermann et al., 2020; World Health Organization, 2007b). This is due in large part to the natural variation of iodine concentration in soils that impacts the resulting iodine concentration in the food produced in those soils (Zimmermann, 2010). Iodine concentration in soils varies widely by region and is influenced by geomorphology, climate, propinquity to an ocean, and many other factors (Fuge & Johnson, 2015; Shetaya et al., 2012). The presence of iodine in soils and water is important for passive iodine sufficiency, but what people choose to eat is also incredibly important.

The iodine status of the people in a region is heavily influenced by the food culture, what foods are consumed most, and from what areas they are produced. For instance, in 2021, Korean school-aged children had an excessive median urinary iodine concentration (UIC) of 449  $\mu$ g/L (The USA's median UIC was 190  $\mu$ g/L) as a result of high seafood intake associated with their

food culture (The Iodine Global Network, 2021). The rise of vegan diets in many areas has also led to speculation of increased iodine deficiency since a vegan diet eliminates most of the foods with the highest natural iodine content (meat, dairy, and seafood). A study conducted in Germany found "in one-third of the vegans {studied}, iodine excretion was lower than the WHO threshold value ( $<20 \mu g/L$ ) for severe iodine deficiency"(Weikert et al., 2020). A similar study in Norway found that the vegans (n=115) and vegetarians (n=55) studied were, on average, moderately deficient in iodine, and the Pescatarians (n=35) were mildly iodine deficient (Groufh-Jacobsen et al., 2020). In addition to food preference, the use and intake of iodized salt varies widely by population and for many different reasons, including governmental public health policy, availability, preference for non-iodized sea salt, and increased consumption of processed foods.

#### **1.7.2** Fortification of salt

Public health officials discovered in the early 1900s that iodine deficiency was the cause of many disorders, such as goiter, which has plagued humans for all of time. However, 3600 years before, the Chinese recognized that seaweed and burnt sea sponges could be used to treat goiter (Rosenfeld, 2000). In the early 1900s, many regions in the US, including the Great Lakes, Appalachians, and Northwest, had a high incidence of goiter, and this area was referred to as the "Goiter Belt". It was estimated that between 26%-70% of children had "clinically apparent goiter"(Pearce, 2007). Collective and global understanding of iodine's importance led to a push by public health officials to encourage higher iodine intake. A French chemist, Boussingault, working in Bogota in 1825, had noted that Andean peoples were treating goiter with marine salt deposits and noted that peoples moving between regions were sometimes cured of their goiters

simply by residing in certain areas. He didn't quite make the jump to understand that it was the ingestion of the iodine-rich marine deposits, but it did give rise to the idea of salt as a source of iodine (Zimmermann, 2008). In the 1920s in Switzerland and then the United States shortly after, table salt was voluntarily fortified with iodine (Leung et al., 2012). This saw a drastic reduction in goiter and the elimination of the "Goiter Belt". Iodizing salt is a useful approach for targeting IDD as "It is a universal foodstuff, intake is seasonally consistent, costs are relatively small, and it is easily distributed"(Leung et al., 2012).

Since the initial successes of iodized salt in treating IDD, many countries around the world have legislation requiring salt iodization. In 2020, 124 countries require it, and as a result, it is estimated that 88% of the global population uses iodized salt (Zimmermann & Andersson, 2021).

#### 1.7.3 Current trends

An enormous amount of effort has been exerted to try and decrease the incidence of iodine deficiency since iodine was discovered to be a human essential element and a common deficiency in the early 1900s. The World Health Organization adopted a resolution in 2007 to report on the status of iodine deficiency in the global population every 3 years (World Health Organization, 2007a). In the most recent World Health Assembly (75<sup>th</sup>) in 2022, it was reported that efforts to eliminate iodine deficiency had "stalled" and that in 2020, 21 countries had insufficient iodine intakes. This was up from 19 countries in 2017 and then the preceding downward trend of 25 in 2015, 32 in 2012, 47 in 2007, 54 in 2003, and 110 in 1993(World Health Organization, 2022). In 2006, 30% of people in 193 WHO member states still had urinary iodine concentrations below the recommended level (Zimmermann, 2013). Most notable was the re-emergence of deficiency in countries previously thought to have sufficient iodine

consumption, such as Finland, Germany, Norway, and the Russian Federation (The Iodine Global Network, 2021). In the United States, median urinary iodine concentration decreased more than 50% from 1970 to 1990, as found in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES)(Niwattisaiwong et al., 2017). In this same period, the percentage of women of childbearing age with moderate iodine deficiency increased from 4% to 15%. It is important to note that during this time, and continuing today, the overall population is still, on average, iodine sufficient. At-risk populations, such as women of reproductive age, are of most concern because their iodine requirement is higher, and the outcomes of IDD during child development are most problematic. This emerging trend of increased iodine deficiency in nations previously thought "cured" has brought increased attention to the issue (Hatch-McChesney & Lieberman, 2022).

The decline in iodine status in areas previously sufficient has been theorized about, and many, mostly cultural, reasons have been highlighted. Of most agreed upon are the transition of cleaning products in the dairy industry, use of non-iodized salt by the processed food industry and coincident increase in consumption of processed foods, and the decrease in iodized salt consumption either as decreased overall salt consumption or transition to alternate salt sources such as sea salt (Hatch-McChesney & Lieberman, 2022; Niwattisaiwong et al., 2017). The increased consumption of processed foods without iodine fortification has led to the call by some to begin requiring the food industry to fortify these foods with iodine (Ohlhorst et al., 2012). It is estimated that currently, 90% of salt consumed in industrialized economies comes from processed foods (Zimmermann, 2013). The initial success seen with salt fortification has seemed to wane as cultural food habits change and fortification efforts have not adapted to remain in step. Alternative methods need to be explored to ensure populations receive adequate iodine, and the biofortification of plants is an alternative approach.

#### **1.8 Biofortification efforts**

The fortification of food is done with many types of food products, but in the case of unprocessed food sources such as vegetables, biofortification is used to accumulate nutrients during the plant's life cycle. This differs from fortification where the desired nutrients are added to the processed food product before consumption. Biofortification can be seen as an attempt to try and grow the most nutritionally dense food products, whereas fortification is a means to make up for nutrient deficiency or go beyond the natural capacity to supply a nutrient (Yadav et al., 2020). In the case of plants, biofortification can be accomplished through a variety of methods. Supplemental biofortification would be the introduction of a nutrient beneficial for human health during the plant's natural lifecycle to try and increase the concentration in the consumed plant part. Biofortification can also be accomplished through plant breeding, traditional or transgenic, to select varieties that naturally accumulate higher concentrations of human beneficial elements in their consumed parts. In both cases, our bio/fortification interventions are entirely anthropocentric.

Biofortification has advantages over fortification, depending on the method used. In the case of variety development, natural concentrations of beneficial elements can be increased with minimal capital investment or buy-in from governments/producers (Yadav et al., 2020). It should be noted that seen as an advantage in one light; it can be an Achilles heel in another if implementation turns off those likely to benefit from the biofortification. Such was the case in the Gates Foundation funded "Golden Rice" project seeking to increase Vitamin A content in rice through the genetic modification and addition of two genes from other species' genomes (Paine et al., 2005; Ye et al., 2000). This has sparked rigorous debate centering with the biotechnical camp highlighting a single, one-time solution and the socio-systemic camp arguing

for a more systemic and contextual understanding of Vitamin A deficiency (Kettenburg et al., 2018). In the case of further biofortification efforts, this public debate has highly influenced many current methods and efforts for biofortification; including in the case of iodine.

Unlike in other agricultural crop species where plant breeders can select or genetically modify them to sequester higher nutrient contents, the low natural availability of iodine in the landscape (as discussed above) makes this approach with iodine less practical. If the iodine is not present in the soil or the water that the plant is growing in, having strong genetics for accumulation does not influence the final iodine content. Instead, plant scientists and researchers have demonstrated that supplying iodine externally to many agricultural species has resulted in anthropocentrically meaningful concentrations in consumed plant parts. Pea, pumpkin, buckwheat, wheat, sweet basil, spinach, alfalfa, basil, lettuce, pakchoi, kohlrabi, pepper, radish, carrot, tomato, apple, and strawberries have all been shown to be successfully biofortified with iodine addition (Zhang et al., 2023). These successes seem to appear as a viable solution to target IDDs, but disparate implementation potential and regulatory challenges make this unlikely to be implemented.

Biofortification efforts using this method are reliant on individual producers to carry out biofortification with a spray or fertilizer application containing iodine in addition to their normal practices. Without market incentives or government legislation, there is likely to be inconsistent implementation relying solely on farmer altruism. The market incentive for iodine content is unlikely to arise as It has already been demonstrated that there is wide diversity in the nutritional density of agricultural products and that the farming practices used to grow those products are what influence that density (Montgomery et al., 2022; Montgomery & Biklé, 2021). Despite this variability, consumers are unable to find out the nutrient density of the crops they purchase, and

farmers do not directly measure this component of their crops before selling them. Some consumers have begun to demand higher quality produce that aligns with their social and environmental views and introduces nuance into the view of crops. For example, purchasing a certified Organic tomato over one produced with synthetic pesticides and fertilizers? However, there is usually an assumption that one is healthier and more nutritionally dense than the other, and that may or may not be confirmed with lab analysis. If iodine biofortification is to be implemented, consumer preference would need to support the addition of iodine during the growing stage of the plants, and this is extremely unlikely to happen.

Widespread use of iodine-enriched fertilizers is unlikely due to regulatory challenges, the risk of iodine loss to the atmosphere contributing to ozone depletion, and potential toxicity to plants at higher concentrations. While passive iodine fortification through fertilizers has minor potential, its effectiveness and environmental impact remain largely unstudied, making it a low-priority strategy for addressing iodine deficiency disorders.

#### 1.9 Summary

In reading literature reviews on the impact of iodine in plants, most authors conclude that iodine is beneficial to plants, might be an essential element, and that more information is needed to be certain (Fuge & Johnson, 2015; Medrano-Macías et al., 2016; Nascimento et al., 2022; Riyazuddin et al., 2023; Zhang et al., 2023). This despite over 100 years of study with incredibly inconsistent responses across species, cultivation practices, application timings, rates, and iodine form, as discussed in this review. Part of the difficulty in defining iodine's role comes from the limited categories that are presented to sort elements and nutrients into.

Given the options of an essential element or a biostimulant, there seems to be a collective emphasis on working to prove that iodine is an essential element. Work by many authors

proceeds down a path seeking to isolate its essentiality rather than acknowledging results that do not support this hypothesis. Disparate responses temporally, between species- and even varieties, as well as known volatilization pathways, point to a plant relationship with iodine different than any known essential element (Kato et al., 2013; Medrano-Macías et al., 2016; Saini et al., 1995). A variety of studies have made it clear that there can be a beneficial response to iodine applied at the right time and in the right form and concentration. This aligns more with the definition of a biostimulant or beneficial nutrient rather than as an essential micronutrient.

# Chapter 2: The impact of iodine on plant dynamics in almond, pistachio and avocado

#### 2.1 Introduction

Exogenously applied iodine has been studied in a diversity of crops, but the majority have been annuals grown in a controlled environment setting. Documented benefits for stress mitigation, as well as having a potential flowering impact, highlight the potential suitability for iodine's use in perennial crops with complex fruit set dynamics that are often exposed to stress during their most vulnerable fruit setting period. In California, almond, avocado, and pistachio are all economically important crops with large acreage dedicated to their production. In each of these crops, the success of flowering and subsequent seed/fruit set is the primary determinant of yield and economic viability. Adverse conditions due to water, nutrient, salt, and carbohydrate depletion can lead to stress during the period of bud formation. Fruit yield can be further reduced due to adverse temperature, wind, water and/or heat stress during the spring flowering period (February in almond, March/April in avocado and pistachio). In almond, year-to-year yield

variations of 25-45% are normal (approx. +/- 225kg). In pistachio and avocado, yield fluctuations may be substantially greater at 40-75%. Fluctuations in yield and failure to reach full yield potential are due to a combination of physiological characteristics and environmental stresses, and this fluctuation frequently represents a substantial portion of grower profitability (Muhammad et al., 2015, 2018; Saa et al., 2017).

In almond, pistachio, and avocado, the periods of flowering, fruit set, and subsequentyear bud formation are logically critical to tree productivity as without buds, there will be no blooms, and without blooms, there will be no fruit. Unfavorable conditions at flowering can reduce the number of flowers that set fruit and the number of fruitlets that are retained by the tree, while unfavorable conditions such as water stress, drought stress, and within-tree competition for carbon or nutrients during bud formation can reduce the number of viable buds for the subsequent years fruit production (Valdebenito et al., 2017). Due to the evidence presented in Chapter 1, iodine likely functions as a biostimulant rather than an essential element. A targeted intervention of a biostimulant to mitigate stress during these crucial points mean plants would likely have improved yields in that season and others. However, mitigating stress by relying on an element functioning as a biostimulant with an unknown mode of action means applications would need to be made at theoretically ideal times and by correct application methods. Applying iodine when it is theoretically ideal for perceived future stress is a challenging undertaking that will be explored in this thesis. Without an underlying understanding of iodine's mechanism, an approach covering a diversity of timings and delivery methods is needed. In almonds, iodine would theoretically need to be introduced at the pink-bud stage of floral development to have a potentially direct antioxidant effect during bloom and be present at mid-summer bud formation for stress mitigation to free up carbohydrate reserves. In pistachio,
iodine would likely need to be present during mid-summer bud formation for multiple years to understand if decreased stress during this time leads to a decrease in year-to-year alternate bearing. In avocado, the introduction and availability of iodine in late Summer/early Fall during bud formation would also likely target a period critical for subsequent yield by mitigating potential stressors.

## 2.1.1 Almond bloom

Bloom in almonds is important as the resulting yield is entirely dependent on the success of that bloom. An unsuccessful bloom or fruit set cannot be overcome through any agronomic practices thereafter. Each crop has unique bloom characteristics to be understood and potentially managed, but many aspects of bloom timing and set are not well understood. This is especially true in almonds due to the limited geographical cultivation range of this crop. Cultivar to cultivar, field to field, and season to season, differences in blooming date and success do not often follow a linear trend easily assigned to a single variable. Bloom is often influenced by several variables whose weight can often seem unpredictable. Temperature, for example, is very influential, but also highly variable across space and time. Warm single days, for example, can be followed by weeks of cold weather and be variable across microclimates. The study of bloom is further complicated by a changing global climate as long-term datasets meant to capture the range of variability are often presenting new trajectories in response to changing climate. For example, In work studying phenological data from cherry trees for 732 years, bloom on average was 10 days earlier from the 1950s till now when compared to the mean for all previous data (Vitasse et al., 2022). Using historical averages to inform current bloom projections are less valuable when new benchmarks are being established.

The economic importance of almond production in California has led to an increase in effort to better understand and manage almond bloom, but for all the effort, there has been little research resulting in an implementable practice to effectively control or alter bloom. This research has however, increased our understanding of bloom-specific nutrient requirements, overwintering carbohydrate storage, and chill requirements, and how these influence flower count and quantity (Tombesi et al., 2016). However, this information is often descriptive of trends rather than resulting in a prescriptive or implementable practice for agronomic decisionmaking. Temperature is viewed as the single most influential factor on almond bloom, and as such, a number of models have been created (Egea et al., 2003; Gaeta et al., 2018). These models are useful for a coarse understanding of bloom timing, but are not specific enough for individual tree treatment differentiation. The application of iodine as a bloom-time-altering intervention means that a more nuanced understanding of individual tree bloom is needed.

To study if a treatment influences the bloom of a single tree in an orchard, a different technique needs to be employed that is more localized. Counting individual blooms is moderately useful to better understand a tree's blooming progression, but time limitations and extreme canopy variability mean statistical census requirements are often too burdensome. Remotely sensed data is robust in capturing bloom characteristics in almond orchards, but has yet to be shown to aid in differentiating treatment effects during bloom (Chakraborty et al., 2023; Chen et al., 2019). To understand individual tree responses, a novel approach is required that utilizes multiple approaches used in tandem: a) high frequency and high resolution remotely sensed data paired with differential treatments to allow statistical comparison and b) localized and hyper-monitored treatments tracking flower progression.

#### 2.1.2 Pistachio alternate bearing

Pistachio trees are known for their tolerance of challenging soil conditions and drought when compared to almond. Additionally, pistachio trees are wind pollinated, so they do not need the supplementation of insect pollinators as almond do. Pistachio has become an economically viable and important crop in California, especially in the Southern San Joaquin valley, where these characteristics are beneficial. However, while pistachios are more agronomically viable in these regions, the 'alternate bearing' phenology of these trees mean yields are less consistent than almonds.

The mechanisms or causes of alternate bearing have not been fully described, and hypotheses can be divided into two broad categories: varietal characteristics and external factors such as environment. Within internal factors, genetic variability, hormonal fluctuations, and resource availability can each play a part in year-to-year yield. External factors such as stressors, both abiotic and biotic, and triggering events have also been shown to influence tree bearing. Agronomic cultural practices such as variety selection, rootstock selection, and pruning have all been demonstrated to greatly reduce alternate bearing, but why they do so is still open to debate. Like many agricultural challenges, it is unlikely that a single factor is responsible for this result, and it is more likely due a combination of many different factors.

Research that has demonstrated iodine's ability to reduce stress make it a potential intervention to target both resource availability as well as hormonal signaling that could impact nut abscission. The application of iodine following bloom and continuing through the growing season could potentially be beneficial in mitigating the impacts of stressor as they occur.

### 2.1.3 Avocado bloom

Avocado trees have complex bloom dynamics when compared to most other agronomic crops that make their monitoring difficult. At the root of this complexity is a form of flowering behavior called "synchronous dichogamy"- when individual flowers alternate being male and female. This is further complicated as different varieties display different orders of male and female phase presentation- alternating which part of the flower opens at which time of the day (Alcaraz et al., 2013). It has also been estimated that mature avocado trees can have over a million flowers during peak bloom, and a grove of avocados of the same variety will likely not bloom synchronously (Arpaia et al., 2023). Monitoring if a treatment of iodine impacts the timing of flowers is extremely challenging, given the natural variation between trees. Remotely sensed imagery has been used in avocado for yield estimation as well as to identify phenological stages, but not for treatment differentiation (Bianchi, 2012; Robson et al., 2017). On the ground visual comparison systems have been established for floral stage and bloom intensity that have been demonstrated to work to differentiate between varieties (Alcaraz et al., 2013; Salazar-García et al., 1998). Although more coarse than high-resolution imagery, these two methods offer the potential to differentiate between treatments if the effect of iodine on bloom stage or intensity is pronounced.

#### 2.1.4 Study intent

This study was conducted to understand the capacity for exogenously applied iodine to impact plant stress response when applied in field trials in almond, pistachio and avocado. Based on the literature reviewed, iodine has a potential to influence almond fruitset when applied as an inorganic antioxidant at the onset of bloom. This capacity is theoretically not unique to bloom, and this study also seeks to understand if iodine can influence stress response at other times

when applied in almond, pistachio and avocado. The methods selected to monitor iodine's potential effect reflect our current understanding of iodine's role as a potential antioxidant and are intended to monitor this response while also gathering baseline data about naturally occurring iodine concentrations.

#### 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1 Preliminary study on soil iodine concentrations in California

A literature review was carried out to source geolocated soil analyses that included iodine. Due to the analytical difficulty in quantifying iodine concentration and the relatively limited focus on iodine when compared to more agronomically important elements, only two studies were found. One by the United States Geological Survey (Hansford Shacklette & Boerngen, 1984b), and one by the University of California Agriculture and Natural Resources (Bradford et al., 1996). These data were aggregated with an unpublished dataset from Patrick Brown's lab at the University of California, Davis, of 11 California locations (Supplementary Data 2). In total, this analysis included 126 geolocated soil samples.

These soil samples were mapped using ArcGIS Pro, and an Empirical Bayesian Kriging analysis was performed to interpolate between the sample locations.

## 2.2.2 Field trial locations and characteristics

Trials were conducted in four different fields in California that were each owned and managed by different farmers and managers. Locations were selected based on the preliminary study of iodine content in California soils, showing that there are generally low soil iodine concentrations throughout the Central Valley agricultural region of California.

The majority of trials were laid out in a systematic block design to account for variations in irrigation efficiencies as distances from irrigation source increase. At trial locations, irrigation risers were in the center of the field, creating a gradient moving outwards. This variation in irrigation and fertigation over time creates linear gradients along orchard rows that need to be accounted for. Repeating blocks of trees that were spatially close allowed for a more accurate comparison of localized and historical conditions.

Almond: Westwind Ranch located near Woodland, CA

- Variety: Nonpareil and Monterrey
- Age: 13 years old
- 308 trees/ha
- 2022 Yield: Nonpareil 2000 kg/ha and Wood Colony 2185 kg/ha
- Micro sprinkler
- Bloom spur trial was laid out with a randomized design



Figure 1: Map of Westwind Ranch in Woodland, California, where the 2024 bloom trial was located. Each colored point is a tree in a single row of nonpareil almonds.

Almond: KG Ranch located near Madera, CA

- Variety: Nonpareil and Wood Colony
- Age: 9 years old
- 326 trees/ha
- 2022 Yield: Nonpareil 1100 kg/ha and Monterey 3740 kg/ha
- Double drip
- Trials were laid out in a systematic block design with two buffer trees between each grouping of trees.



Figure 2: Map of KG ranch rear Firebaugh, California, where a variety of Iodine trials from this study were located. Trials and treatments are differentiated on the map by different colors with a breakdown in the key.

Avocado: Cornell Ranch located near Temecula, CA

- Top worked with GEM variety in 2022
- Trials were laid out in a randomized complete block design with one buffer tree between treatments.

Pistachio: Maricopa Ranch/ATB Growers located near Firebaugh, CA

- Variety: Kerman
- Rootstock: ucb1
- Pollinators: 5% Male
- Spacing: 5.8m between rows and 5.2m between trees 331 trees/ha
- Irrigation: Double drip
- Trials were laid out in a systematic block design with one buffer tree between each twotree group.



Figure 3: Map of Maricopa Ranch/ATB Growers pistachio orchard near Madera, California. The fertigation trial occurred in two rows of trees, and the treatments can be differentiated by the color-coded key on the map

# 2.2.3 Almond – KG Ranch - Hail event 2023

On March 12, 2023, a storm system moved over the Central Valley of California and a large amount of hail fell on the KG ranch in Madera (Supplementary Data 1). Peak bloom for the block containing the research block was around March 6<sup>th,</sup> when a bloom survey/count was conducted. This hailstorm systematically removed the majority of the flowers and emerging buds from the orchard, resulting in an extremely light fruit year. A flower survey had already been conducted for this orchard prior to the hail event and was followed up on to establish a set

percentage. Figure 4 shows the interpolated set percentage over the orchard based on these numbers that was around 3-8% in the study area. For reference, this orchard averaged 32% fruitset in 2022.



Figure 4: Map of hail damage to KG ranch block 26 near Firebaugh, California. Hail damage was assessed using a bloom sample where the number of nuts was divided by the number of flowers on a particular branch taken at the points indicated on the map. These data were used to construct an interpolated raster surface to visualize the variation in hail damage in the orchard. 2023 trial locations are displayed on the map and are located in the area most impacted by the storm.

## 2.2.4 Iodine source

A commercially available potassium nitrate fertilizer was used to apply all iodine treatments as part of a research agreement with the manufacturer of the product. This potassium nitrate (KNO<sub>3</sub>) fertilizer contains iodine as potassium iodate. The commercially available products used are branded as 'Ultrasol' and 'UltrasolINE' manufactured by Sociedad Química y Minera (SQM). For this report, Ultrasol will be referred to as KNO<sub>3</sub>, and UltrasolINE will be referred to as KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine.

Spectrophotometric analysis was done to determine the iodine content of the fertilizer applied. The analytical method employed was adapted from one used to determine potassium iodate in table salt by Silva et al. (1998). A description of the adapted method can be found in the supplementary documents section.

Ultrasol/UltrasolINE fertilizer is commercially available in 50 lb (USA) bags. Each bag has the potential to contain different amounts of iodine and for that iodine to be heterogeneously distributed in the fertilizer. For this reason, two separate bags were sampled, and two subsamples of 50g were taken from different locations in each bag that was then dissolved in Milli-Q water. Five aliquots were removed from each fertilizer solution and independently analyzed spectrophotometrically.

A large variation in iodine content was found between bags, between subsamples of fertilizer, as well as some variation in spectrophotometric analysis. All samples were below the expected 1000 mg/kg iodine content of UltrasolINE (Figure 5).



*Figure 5: Spectrophotometric analysis of Iodine concentration in commercially available 'UltrasolINE' potassium nitrate fertilizer.* 

## 2.2.5 Field trials

### 2.2.5.A Almond – KG Ranch, Madera, CA – Whole tree – Two-year pink bud foliar

In 2023, this trial was established to monitor the impact of foliar-applied KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine when compared to KNO<sub>3</sub> without iodine. This trial was particularly focused on understanding if iodine applied at the pink-bud stage led to any change in floral emergence and, ultimately, fruit set when applied at the full tree level.

The trial was laid out starting with two buffer trees to the field edge and then groups of three trees separated by two buffer trees. This was repeated for the entirety of the irrigation block (60 trees) and duplicated in two rows. This led to a total of 72 trees in the experiment, with 24 in each specific treatment.

Applications of treatments were made using a Stihl backpack sprayer. Rates of carrier water were meant to model a grower standard of 935 l/ha used during bloom applications. A timer was used for each tree to ensure rates were identical and applications were made to both sides of the row. An untreated control was included, and a grower standard surfactant of Miller brand "Exit" was included at a rate of 0.3ml/L. Rates of KNO<sub>3</sub> and KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine fertilizers were 5.6 kg/ha. This amount of fertilizer should contain between 3.0 and 4.2 grams of iodine based on bag variability (Figure 5).

A pink bud application was made when the ranch manager assessed that the orchard aligned with their expectations of being in the pink bud stage. An application was made on February 15th in 2023, and on February 9th in 2024.

In 2023, four branches per tree were flagged at locations along their length with approximately 50 flowers. The exact number of flowers was then counted and recorded. The majority of the flowers were knocked off in the hail event described above, but a follow-up count of fruit was made. Trees were harvested in 2023 in groups of three corresponding to their treatment due to the incredibly low yields. The total weight was recorded and then cracked to collect quality data.

In 2024, high-frequency CERES multispectral imagery was collected during bloom, and individual tree yield data was collected using a UC Davis experimental yield monitoring device. This device utilizes a laser to measure the volume of nuts passing over a belt within the harvest machine.

#### 2.2.5.B Almond – KG Ranch, Madera, CA – Whole tree – One-year pink bud foliar

This trial was identical to the two-year trial but was only a single row (60 trees), and trees only received treatments for the 2024 season. This row was also located on the North part of the almond block, whereas the two-year trial had both rows in the South part of that block.

#### 2.2.5.C Almond – Westwind Ranch, Woodland, CA – Spur – Foliar

In 2024, a trial was established to monitor the impact of foliar-applied KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine when compared to KNO<sub>3</sub> without iodine. This trial was particularly focused on understanding if iodine applied at the pink bud stage led to any change in floral emergence and, ultimately, fruit set.

A row of trees was selected based on NDVI analysis of the previous year's growth that showed low variability between trees. Two trees were left as a buffer in the North along a roadway, and the trial had 30 trees in it. Prior to the green tip stage (2/10/24), six spurs per tree three on the East and three on the West - were tagged and labelled. At visual pink-bud, treatments were applied by hand using sprayer bottles. The carrier volume of water was meant to model the grower standard of 935 l/ha. The rate of KNO<sub>3</sub> and KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine was 5.6 kg/ha, and this amount of fertilizer should contain between 3.0 and 4.2 grams of iodine based on bag variability (Figure 5). A surfactant, Miller brand "Exit" was added at a rate of 0.3ml/L. A third treatment of surfactant and water was included to ensure surfactant alone was not a factor.

Spurs were monitored daily from the date of application until the complete petal drop. Each day, the number of each category of developmental bud was counted. Stages used for this assessment were: Green tip, Pink Bud, Popcorn, Full Bloom, and Petal Fall. A follow-up count of fruit was made in May, and all fruit was harvested on 8/5/24. Fruit was dried in an oven and then cracked out to collect quality data.

## 2.2.5.D Almond – KG Ranch, Madera, CA – Whole tree – Two-year fertigation

In 2023, a trial was established to understand if the addition of KNO<sub>3</sub> and KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine in drip irrigation at high frequency during the growing season had any effect. The trial was laid out starting with two buffer trees to the field edge and then groups of four trees separated by two buffer trees. This was repeated for the entirety of the irrigation block (60 trees) and duplicated in two rows. This led to a total of 80 trees in the experiment, with 40 in each specific treatment.

To apply the treatments in this design, a novel injector setup was designed and built (see Figure 6). Duplicate irrigation lines were laid out for each of the two treatments in the block, and emitters were added to create the blocks. Emitters were placed to align with the existing irrigation emitters to ensure treatments were made to existing wetted zones. These irrigation lines were then attached to the injection board that utilized Dosatrons to inject the treatments. These boards were controlled using a Spherag Atmos 2 cellularly-linked controller. Injection events were made weekly and occurred <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> of the way through the irrigation event.

Fertilizer corresponding to each treatment was injected into the lines to a total of 220kg/ha of fertilizer that contained 110 and 165 total grams of iodine based on bag variability (Figure 5). At 326 trees/ha plant spacing in this orchard, this amounts to each tree received between 0.33 to 0.5 g of iodine throughout the treatment.

In 2023, four branches per tree were flagged at locations along their length with approximately 50 flowers. The exact number of flowers was then counted and recorded. The majority of the flowers were knocked off in the hail event described above, but a follow-up count of fruit was made. Trees were harvested in 2023 in groups of three corresponding to their treatment due to the incredibly low yields. Total weight was recorded and then cracked-out to collect quality data.

In 2024, high-frequency CERES multispectral imagery was collected during bloom, and individual tree yield data was collected using a UC Davis experimental yield monitoring device.



Figure 6: Fertigation system designed to operate without grid power in the center of an irrigation run and be operated remotely. Two valves are actuated via a SIM-enabled controller that also broadcasts data from the two flow sensors. Each dosatron injector handles a treatment and feeds the corresponding lines to the treatment layout.

# 2.2.5.E Almond – KG Ranch, Madera, CA – Whole tree – Foliar post-harvest

In Fall 2023, a single post-harvest foliar application of KNO3 and KNO3+iodine was

made to a row of nonpareil almond trees in Madera. This trial was carried out to explore if iodine

could improve overwintering bud status, leading to an improved flowering and set the following year.

The trial was laid out similarly to the other foliar trials, starting with two buffer trees at the field edge and then groups of three trees separated by two buffer trees. This was repeated for the entirety of the irrigation block (60 trees). This led to a total of 36 trees in the experiment, with 12 in each specific treatment.

Applications of treatments were made using a Stihl backpack sprayer. Rates of carrier water were meant to model "normal" field applications of 935 l/ha used during post-harvest applications. A timer was used for each tree to ensure rates were identical and applications were made to both sides of the row. A grower standard surfactant of Miller Brand "Exit" was included at a rate of 0.3ml/L. Rates of KNO<sub>3</sub> and KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine fertilizers were 5.6 kg/ha. This amount of fertilizer should contain between 3.0 and 4.2 grams of iodine based on bag variability (Figure 5).

#### **2.2.5.F Pistachio – Firebaugh, CA – Whole tree – Fertigation**

In 2023, a trial was established in a pistachio block to understand if the addition of KNO<sub>3</sub> and KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine in drip irrigation at high frequency during the growing season had any effectwith special emphasis on alternate bearing. The trial was laid out starting with two buffer trees to the field edge and then groups of two trees separated by a buffer tree. This was repeated for the entirety of the irrigation block (40 trees) and duplicated in two rows. This led to a total of 52 trees in the experiment, with 26 in each specific treatment.

Irrigation was duplicated similarly to almond fertigation trials, except that an in-line emitter hose was used. On each side of the tree, one line of emitter hose and one line of blank hose was laid. It was then cut at each buffer tree, and the sections were alternated to create the

treatment blocks. This was a far superior method to the thousands of drip emitters that were hand-installed in the almond treatments. Identical fertigation injector boards were installed and used to make applications (Figure 6).

Fertilizer corresponding to each treatment was injected into the lines to total 220kg/ha of fertilizer that contained 110 and 165 total grams of iodine based on bag variability (Figure 5). At 331 trees/ha plant spacing in this orchard, this amounts to each tree received between 0.32 to 0.49 g of iodine over the course of the treatment.

Trees were tissue sampled in June for comprehensive nutrient analysis as well as iodine analysis. In July, fruits/cluster were counted for seven clusters per tree in a circle around each treatment tree.

During the 2023 harvest, a 38cm x 63.5cm mesh bag of fruit was collected for each set of two trees in the trial. These 26 samples were sent to Wonderful Laboratories for quality assessment.

The 2024 harvest was during a pistachio off-year, so trees were harvested using pole pruners and by hand into buckets. These samples were then dried in an oven and then processed to remove sticks, leaves and other non-nut "trash" to establish total tree yield.

#### 2.2.5.G Avocado – Temecula - Fertigation

In the Fall of 2023, a trial was installed in an avocado grove in Temecula, CA. This grove had been top worked with Gem variety two years prior. A similar trial design to the pistachios and almond was used, but due to the slope of the site, some modifications were made. A total of 28 trees were used, with 14 being assigned to each treatment (

Supplementary Data 3). These trees were in two side-by-side rows, with blocks of four trees being partnered to ensure any water movement downslope did not carry between treatments. Identical fertigation injector boards were installed and used to make applications (Figure 6).

Applications commenced July 27<sup>th,</sup> 2023, and were made weekly for 14 weeks. These applications applied a total rate of 168 kg/ha of KNO<sub>3</sub> alone or KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine. The timing was targeted to make iodine available during important flower bud development time.

Observations of phenology were made by a UC Riverside collaborator, Marllon Soares dos Santos, according to the methodology proposed by Salazar et al. and Alcaraz et al (Alcaraz et al., 2013; Salazar-García et al., 1998). A description of this assessment scale can be found in supplementary materials.

Due to the cost of labor, the market price at the time of maturity, and the projected yield, the grower decided not to harvest this block of avocados, so no yield or quality data was collected for this trial.

Leaf tissue and root samples were taken in August 2024 to determine the iodine content of plant tissue. Twenty-five leaves were taken from each tree while walking 360 degrees around the tree. Feeder root samples were taken at two locations for each tree and combined into tree groups of two for trees in the same row and growing next to each other.

## 2.2.6 CERES fixed-wing aircraft multispectral imagery analysis

CERES Imaging provided fixed-wing multispectral images of the almond and pistachio sites at temporal frequencies conducive to the desired analyses. Thermal, and multispectral (550nm, 670nm, 717nm, and 800nm) images were captured each flight.

In 2023, only two images were taken during the almond bloom. These images were not alone enough to understand bloom progression, so in 2024, nine images were captured from 2/12/24 to 3/14/24 to better analyze variation. For both years, monthly images were captured throughout the growing season and into Fall until leaf drop.

## 2.2.6.A Individual tree segmentation

Polygons were hand-drawn around each blooming tree in the respective trials. Hand drawing was necessary because of overlap in the tree canopy that was not easily discerned by methods used by other workers such as YOLOV5, object segmentation, deep learning tools in ArcGIS with ArcGIS Pro Image Analyst, or Meta's Segment Anything Model (SAM). Tree centroid point-to-polygon conversion was tried to determine if various shapes could also capture each tree accurately. Circles of differing diameters, as well as "donuts" (circles without centers), were analyzed and compared with hand-drawn polygons. Ultimately, it was determined that hand-drawn polygons most accurately captured each tree, as the centroid of a tree trunk might not be the centroid of the canopy.

#### 2.2.6.B Almond bloom analysis

Previous work has established that almond blooms reflect the majority of the visible light spectrum (Chen et al., 2019). This attribute assists with determining bloom variation in early season imagery as blooming almonds are easily differentiated from the soil and any weeds surrounding them. Using ESRI ArcGIS Pro, a histogram of pixel values was created for each 550nm band image, and a bloom threshold was selected. These values differed slightly from image to image due to minor variations, but this difference was never large. Once a threshold value was established, the Raster Calculator geoprocessing tool was used to set any values below

that threshold to <NULL>. Using null values allowed any following analysis to easily differentiate the blooming tree from the background (Figure 7). This variation in reflectance is the overall whiteness of the tree in the image with the higher reflectance due to greater amount of overall whiteness.



Figure 7: Example image taken from ArcGIS Pro showing the ability to differentiate between blooming almond trees and the soil/weeds/etc. surrounding them. Trees within the trial are encircled by polygons and summary statistics are calculated for the pixels of that raster image.

## 2.2.6.C In-season reflectance comparison

CERES multi-spectral imagery was processed using ArcGIS Pro using the Raster Calculator geoprocessing tool for two vegetation indices: NDRE and NDVI. These indices were selected as they are very commonly used, well understood, and good indicators of in-season tree status. NDVI was used to compare treatments early in the growing season as trees are accumulating chlorophyll, and NDRE was used later in the season as trees likely reach a peak canopy cover/chlorophyll content. The equations for these indices are as following:

$$NDVI = \frac{NIR - Red}{NIR + Red}$$
  $NDRE = \frac{NIR - Red Edge}{NIR + Red Edge}$ 

The imagery was overlaid with individual tree polygons corresponding to different trials and treatments. The ArcGIS Pro geoprocessing tool "Zonal Statistics as Table" was used to calculate descriptive statistics for each tree polygon.

## 2.2.7 Statistical software and analysis

RStudio version 2023.12.1+402 was used for all statistical analysis and graph and figure generation. Packages used: emmeans, ggplot2, lme4, tidyverse, dplyr, purr, lubridate, scales, multcomp, broom, ggeffects, ggpubr, rstatix, ez, bspline, splines, and splines2.

Statistical analysis was done using an analysis of variance (ANOVA) in R on the fit of linear models for each experiment's results. In most cases, a single predictor was used in linear model creation and in all cases, models were checked using a plot of residuals.

To analyze timescale aerial imagery, a repeated measures analysis was done using a linear mixed-effects model in R- *lmer()*. Date of the image and treatment were used as independent variables and metric of interest (ex: mean whiteness) as the dependent variable. A random effects variable was introduced to account for individual tree variability.

#### 2.3 Results

# 2.3.1 Soil iodine concentrations in California

Soil iodine was found to be variable across California, but all areas had low concentrations when compared to a metadata analysis global average of 5.1 mg/kg (Johnson, 2003). Though a possible factor when comparing studies between broad geographical regions, in California, the soil concentration variability is not expected to impact results for the three study areas and cropping systems in this study.



Figure 8: Soil iodine concentration map showing spatial variability within California. Variability exists between the different regions of California, but in general, iodine concetrations are low and trial location is unlikely to be influenced by natural iodine levels.

# 2.3.2 Almond – Leaf tissue comprehensive nutrient analysis

No difference between treatments was found for any element measured for leaf samples taken in July of 2023.

	unit	KNO <sub>3</sub> + lodine	KNO₃	p- value
Nitrogen	%	3.25	3.24	0.69
Phosphorus	%	0.17	0.17	0.83
Potassium	%	2.07	2.02	0.51
Calcium	%	2.43	2.46	0.66
Magnesium	%	0.56	0.57	0.41
Zinc	ppm	16.56	16.35	0.62
Manganese	ppm	62.98	63.7	0.74
Iron	ppm	91.28	92.68	0.47
Copper	ppm	5.93	5.58	0.2
Boron	ppm	30.63	31.16	0.26
Sodium	%	0.02	0.02	0.44

Table 1: Mean nutrient concentration of almond leaf samples following 2023 fertigation treatment. r=40

# 2.3.3 Pistachio - Leaf tissue comprehensive nutrient analysis

No difference between treatments was found for any element measured for leaf samples taken in late July of 2023.

Table 2: Mean	nutrient	concentration	of pistachio	leaf sa	ımples f	following	2023	fertigation
treatment. $r = 1$	26							

	unit	KNO <sub>3</sub> + lodine	KNO₃	p- value
Nitrogen	%	2.10	2.08	0.56
Phosphorus	%	0.11	0.11	0.99
Potassium	%	1.59	1.62	0.53
Calcium	%	2.11	2.11	0.99
Magnesium	%	0.54	0.53	0.32
Zinc	ppm	45.68	43.67	0.24
Manganese	ppm	60.56	61.62	0.75
Iron	ppm	112.64	111.27	0.77
Copper	ppm	20.96	19.69	0.1
Boron	ppm	82.06	79.32	0.28
Sodium	%	0.01	0.01	0.32

#### 2.3.4 Almond - Floral progression bloom assessment – Spurs at Westwind Ranch

Results from the daily monitoring of individual spurs showed logical progression through the developmental stages: Green Tip  $\rightarrow$ Pink Bud  $\rightarrow$ Popcorn  $\rightarrow$ Full Bloom  $\rightarrow$ Petal Fall (Figure 9). Slight differences between the treatments can be observed, but further analysis was needed to understand if there were statistical differences in the timing or amount of blooming that occurred by treatment.



Figure 9: Bloom progression of spurs receiving treatments of KNO<sub>3</sub>, KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine, or untreated. The number of buds/flowers in each stage is displayed in its corresponding color to visualize progression over the bloom timeframe from green tip to petal fall. This graph is important for visualization, but no statistics can be calculated to understand if the treatments impacted the bloom development.

The mean flowering percentage was used to standardize the number of flowers per spur since spurs were selected pre-bud break and not selected for a uniform number of flowers. This

ratio for each day and for each spur was generated from the number of buds in full bloom and dividing it by the total number of buds in all stages. This number represents the percentage of flowers flowering at each time step out of that spur's potential total number of flowering buds. A number of "1" would indicate that all buds on that spur are in flower. A low number could indicate that peak bloom had not occurred, had already occurred, or the spur had a non-uniform/synchronized floral emergence. Given the nature of buds proceeding along a progression of development and then declining after peak bloom, plotting values along a time scale elucidates the meaning of a low value. In Figure 10, a shift in blooming for KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine-treated spurs can be observed, followed by a more abrupt transition to post-flowering when compared to the KNO<sub>3</sub> alone and the Untreated treatments.

The predicted values along a linear progression appear to confirm the trend that iodine application leads to an earlier bloom with a more abrupt decline, but confidence intervals overlap in many regions (Figure 11). When the standard deviation for the six spurs on each tree is factored in to this trend, the uniformity of bloom on a tree did not differ significantly between treatments, but KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine-treated trees had a slightly earlier increase in the standard deviation than the other two treatments (Figure 12). Given the nature of highly variable bloom dynamics at the spur level, this trend is not statistically significant, but suggests a trend needing further investigation through a more precise method.



Figure 10: Ratio of buds in flowering to the total number of buds that eventually flowered on each spur (Mean flowering Percentage) over the total bloom time.



Figure 11: Results of a linear mixed effects model on the spur bloom data accounting for spur variability show slight divergence of iodine treated spurs from other treatments. This divergence is not significant given the 95% confidence interval. Spur flowering percentage is the ratio of bloomed flowers at each time step, given the known potential of that spur for flowering at the end of the flowering cycle.



Figure 12: The standard deviation of spur flowering percentage for each day along the progression of almond bloom showing slight differnces between treatments not significant due to variance..

## 2.3.4.A Nonlinear least squares fit regression analysis of bloom data

Individual almond spur blooming data at this orchard closely resembled a normal Gaussian distribution as a set number of floral buds bloomed and declined without any interruption or secondary release of buds/flowers. A nonlinear least squares fit regression analysis could be performed for each tree and the six spurs being monitored on that tree. The same ratio of the total in full flowering divided by the sum of all stages- *"Flowering"* – was summed for all six spurs and plotted across time. The *Flowering* values for each tree were summed as a way to better represent the collective stage of that tree. A mean of these six spurs would indicate the average stage of blooming but could diminish the differences seen between trees if the variation in the bloom stage of a single tree was high. To check for variation, standard deviation of each tree at each time point was used, as seen in Figure 12. These results show that the standard deviation varies slightly between each treatment but does not vary enough to

preclude the combination of the six spur observations on each tree. It is interesting to note that the KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine treated trees had a higher initial standard deviation than the other treatments, implying that not all spurs or trees were equally impacted by the treatment.

The nonlinear curves permitted the use of descriptive calculus to calculate the derivatives, peak, and area under the curve along the progression of bloom (Figure 13). These calculations were carried out for each of the 30 trees as an estimate of that tree's bloom progression (Figure 14). The mean R<sup>2</sup> for this model was 0.93 – well within an acceptable fit for the majority of trees. The results of these analyses found no significant differences between treatments for any of the metrics based on the model (Table 3 and Table 4). The presence of iodine at a crucial period of bloom had no impact on any measure of bloom dynamics when compared to the control.



Figure 13: Resulting model fit for a single example tree (tree 30) showing the alignment of the curve as well as the location of the various metrics of interest. The model follows the same progression of time but is displayed as "LngDate" to enable calculation and display of data originating from 0,0 with "1" being February 10<sup>th</sup>, 2024 and "30" being March 11<sup>th</sup>, 2024.



Figure 14: Bloom model for each tree in the trial showing variability in bloom dynamics.

Table 3: Names	s and explanations	for the metr	ics used to	understand	each tree's f	itted model
curve of bloom	progression.					

area	Total amount of flowering for the tree		
first and second inflection points	Aspects of timing: when does flowering start		
	and end, what is the length of time between		
	these intervals		
xmean	Timing of peak flowering		
scal	The standard deviation of the distribution. It		
	controls the spread of the flowering over time.		
	A smaller scal value would result in a		
	narrower peak, indicating that the flowering		
	occurs over a shorter period, while a larger		
	scal value would result in a broader peak,		
	indicating that the flowering occurs over a		
	longer period.		

	KNO <sub>3</sub> + lodine	KNO₃	Untreated	p - value
area	7.25	7.33	7.40	0.91
xmean	16.91	17.41	17.92	0.32
scal	4.50	4.65	4.32	0.71
Inflection1	11.89	12.30	13.10	0.21
Inflection2	20.89	21.50	21.80	0.58
length	9.00	9.20	8.70	0.83

Table 4: Statistical summaries for curve fitting to bloom timing model. Mean results for each metric indicate no significant difference in treatments (p>0.05 for all metrics).

## 2.3.4.B Westwinds Ranch yield 2024

All fruit was harvested from the foliar pink-bud spur trial in August 2024. The application of iodine at pink-bud did not lead to a significant difference in yield or kernel characteristics (Figures 18, 19, and 20). High variability in natural spur flowering dynamics means no increase in censusing would reduce this variance as the observable variability (mostly 1 or 2 nuts per spur) is not high enough (Figure 17). Trends indicate higher total kernel weight per spur for spurs treated with KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine at pink-bud (Figure 15) due to higher nuts per spur at harvest and not by increased kernel weight (Figure 16). However, there was no significant difference between the treatments, indicating that the presence of iodine during bloom had no impact on the yield of those treated spurs.



Figure 15: Total almond kernel weight showing a trend towards increased yield for iodine treated spurs that was not significant (p>0.05, df = 26).



Figure 16: The mean individual kernel weight was not statistically different in response to a folair iodine treatmet at pink-bud (p>0.05, df = 26).



Figure 17: Number of nuts harvested per spur in each treatment showing no improvement in yield for iodine treated trees (p>0.05, df = 26).

## 2.3.5 Almond - Floral progression bloom assessment – Whole tree at KG Ranch

Individual spur flowering dynamics are often highly temporally and spatially variable. Additionally, prior work has demonstrated that spur return bloom and flower number are influenced by the number of nuts set on that spur during the previous season (Fernandez et al., 2018). Without a multi-year study, results from spur analysis are likely obfuscated by these factors. A whole tree bloom assessment with yield analysis corrects for the high spur variability as measuring the whole tree captures the variance without a need for increased subsamples per tree. Measuring spurs and inferring total tree bloom status would require an enormous number of sub-samples per tree to ensure the variance was captured and represented the many conditions and stages of the tree. However, even a full tree bloom analysis presents challenges as almonds are insect-pollinated, and a highly successful and productive phenological bloom might not result in a high yield due to pollinator effects. A tree blooming during a cold spell might be measurably robust in all bloom aspects but will not have a corresponding yield due to low pollination events. Similarly, trees exist in a matrix, and the distance to hives influences the number of visitations by honeybees. These factors will all play a role in the ultimate success of a tree, but taken in aggregate, total yield is more related to the total number of flowers as many of these factors are either a) accounted for in experimental design or b) can be averaged out as expected individual variance (Tombesi et al., 2016).

## 2.3.5.A 2024 CERES aerial imagery bloom analysis

Capturing the blooming status of many different trees in an orchard is most easily accomplished using remotely sensed data that, fortunately, can also be incredibly precise given the spur variance as discussed above. High-frequency (daily when possible) multi-spectral, and thermal images were captured of the KG ranch orchard location leading up to and through bloom. As discussed in the Methods section, the bloom status of each tree in the trial was isolated for each image, and the results are presented below.

There was no difference in mean tree flowering/whiteness by treatment (Figure 18). No difference in the standard deviation in measured tree whiteness by treatment would indicate an inconsistent or individually variable response. In the fertigation trial, trees treated with KNO<sub>3</sub> alone did not have consistently higher mean whiteness values, but did have a numerically higher and earlier peak bloom than trees receiving KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine through the irrigation (Figure 19). In the post-harvest foliar application trial, the opposite was true, where KNO<sub>3</sub>+iodine treated trees bloomed earlier and more intensely than the KNO<sub>3</sub> or Untreated trees (Figure 20).



Figure 18: Mean pixel whiteness values derived from remote sensing data for individual trees treated with a foliar application of iodine at pink bud stage. Pixel whiteness serves as a proxy measure for bloom intensity and overall tree flowering status. Error bars represent standard error of the mean (n = 24 trees per treatment group).



Figure 19: Mean pixel whiteness values derived from remote sensing data for individual trees receiving fertigation treatments. Pixel whiteness serves as a proxy measure for bloom intensity and overall tree flowering status. Error bars represent standard error of the mean (n = 40 trees per treatment group).



Figure 20: Mean pixel whiteness values derived from remote sensing data for individual trees that received a foliar treatments priot to leaf-fall in the Fall of 2023. Pixel whiteness serves as a proxy measure for bloom intensity and overall tree flowering status. Error bars represent standard error of the mean (n = 12 trees per treatment group).

## 2.3.5.B KG Ranch 2024 yield for all trials

All fruit from each tree in the two-year foliar pink-bud trial at KG Ranch was harvested,

dried, and cracked out to determine yield. There was no statistical difference in kernel weight

between the treatments (p>0.05, df = 28) (Figure 21).



Figure 21: 2024 individual tree yield data for all trees in the whole-tree foliar pink-bud trial at KG ranch.

### 2.3.6 Pistachio - Fruit counts and 2024 yield

There was no statistical difference in pistachio nuts per cluster between the treatments in 2023 or in 2024 (Figure 22). There was, however, a universally large decrease in nuts per cluster during the 2024 season, but this was also not impacted by the addition of iodine in a fertigation treatment. This large decline in nuts per cluster during the off-year was partially responsible for the overall decline in total yield, but total cluster weight was also lower (Figure 23). In all respects, the addition of iodine did not impact the dynamics of pistachio alternate bearing when applied at this rate and as a fertigation treatment.


Figure 22: Mean number of fruits per cluster for each treatment in the pistachio fertigation trial. The large decline year to year reflects the alternate bearing tendency of pistachios - especially pronounced in this orchard. (2023: p = 0.9092, and 2024: p = 0.2352)



Figure 23: Total yield per tree for the 2024 growing season. No statistical difference in treatments was observed. (p = 0.1239, df = 50)

### 2.3.7 Avocado – Flower counts

There was found to be no difference in flowering stage or bloom intensity between any of the trees in the trial over eight visual assessments from early April to June.



2.3.8 Almond - CERES in-season multispectral imagery

*Figure 24: NDVI of each tree within each trial throughout the 2024 growing season. Treatments showed no measurable impact on NDVI.* 

#### 2.3.9 Iodine analysis in plant tissues and soils

### 2.3.9.A Almond samples

In root samples taken pre-2024 fertigation treatment, there was no statistical difference between the treatments (Figure 25). Following a month of fertigation with the treatments, there was no statistical difference between the treatments in either the soil (Figure 26) or in the leaf samples (Figure 27).



Figure 25: Iodine content of almond root samples taken prior to 2024 fertigation treatment (p value = 0.1437, df = 30).



Figure 26: Percent change in soil iodine from samples taken prior to treatment fertigation to those after receiving a month of fertigation treatments. This analysis showed no change in soil iodine in response to the fertigation treatments (p value = 0.7634, df = 14).



Figure 27: Iodine content of leaf samples taken after fertigation had been applied for 30 days. There was no change in iodine content of leaf tissues due to the treatments (p-value = 0.3977, df=32).

## **2.3.9.B** Pistachio samples

Pistachio leaves had similar iodine content regardless of treatment and this number was slightly lower than was found in almond leaves (Figure 28).



Figure 28: Iodine content of pistachio leaf samples taken prior to fertigation treatments in 2024. (p-value = 0.8396, df=50)

#### 2.3.9.C Avocado samples

Avocado roots and leaves had similar iodine content regardless of treatment and this number was significantly higher than was found in almond or pistachio (Figure 29).



Figure 29: ICP-MS analysis of iodine content of avocado tissues. No difference was found between treatments for roots (p value = 0.5595, df= 10) or leaves (p value = 0.7496, df = 22) and treatment did not impact the distribution between tissues (p value = 0.5886).

### **2.4 Discussion**

Prior research on iodine's role in plants has faced challenges due to iodine's unstable nature, difficulty to analyze, and the inconsistent results often seen between different species and growing conditions. This study also encountered some of these challenges as no work had been done in almond, pistachio, or avocado, or in using fertigated potassium nitrate fertilizer as an iodine delivery source. While the treatments in this study did not lead to significant differences in plant response, valuable and important data was still collected about iodine in these agricultural environments and in three previously unstudied and important agricultural species.

#### 2.4.1 California soil iodine concentrations

Modeling iodine concentrations for all of California is an important first step in understanding broad trends for soil iodine concentrations based on geologic and atmospheric influences. It was found that California had low concentrations throughout when compared to a global average of 5.1 mg I kg<sup>-1</sup> (Johnson, 2003). In the Central Valley agricultural region where these trials were located, iodine concentration was found to be 0.1-0.3 mg I kg<sup>-1</sup> (Figure 8). This analysis is limited by spatial resolution as an interpolation of 126 soil samples is not robust enough to provide adequate certainty of the concentration of iodine at individual locations for the entirety of California. This analysis was, however, useful for ensuring trial locations did not differ significantly. Naturally low concentrations of soil iodine throughout the state mean there is unlikely to be significant interference from naturally present iodine given observed effective rates.

The rates of iodine that have been shown to elicit a plant response are highly variable in the literature. This uncertainty means that there is no known soil concentration that has demonstrated to elicit a response in the orchard crops of this study. California's low soil iodine concentrations could potentially be meeting plant need, but this is unlikely as there is little evidence to support the hypothesis that iodine is an essential microelement. This study focused on iodine's potential role as a beneficial nutrient or biostimulant, and the literature supports the need for higher application rates to elicit a response. The concentration of iodine naturally present in soil is capable of interference, but this is largely dependent on the hypothesized mode of action of iodine.

Continued study of iodine in California agriculture should include localized soil samples as the heterogeneity of iodine at the field-scale is unknown and these samples would refine our

understanding of regional concentration differences. The majority of the data used for this analysis was over 40 years old and there could potentially be changes in soil iodine not captured in a single snapshot in time. Broad geographical iodine concentrations have been shown to be associated with soil parent material and climate for many regions, but have yet to be studied for California (Johnson, 2003; Smyth & Johnson, 2011). These factors often function over geological timeframes, but it is unknown if intensive agricultural practices and the transport of irrigation water over large distances might alter the natural iodine deposition characteristics.

### 2.4.2 Potassium nitrate as delivery medium for iodine treatments

Using iodine-enriched potassium nitrate fertilizer as a source for a fertigation iodine treatment poses significant limitations for research flexibility in adjusting iodine application rates. To achieve the concentrations of iodine that had been demonstrated effective in prior experimentation using the UltrasoIINE product, meant provisioning orchards with unrealistic quantities of nitrogen and potassium. While most studies on exogenous iodine have been conducted in controlled environments, such as soilless systems or hydroponics where maintaining specific iodine concentrations is manageable, applying similar treatments in orchard crops introduces excessive nitrogen and potassium rates (Table 6).

Table 5: Amount of	fertigated Ultra	solINE needed	per tree to ma	itch rate from J	Kiferle et al.
(2022).					

	Fertigated kg per almond tree			
Kiferle et al. (2022)	UltrasolINE		Nitrogen	Potassium
Iodine rate	Kg per tree		Kg per tree	Kg per tree
0.2 µM	3.38	Which Contains	0.4	1.6
10 µM	168.83	which Contains	21.9	77.7
Note: This assumes ~8.9x10 <sup>6</sup> L ha <sup>-1</sup> of water (2023 actual usage) applied per season and 700 µg I kg <sup>-1</sup> in UltrasolINE				

Rates for product application were selected to best mirror a 'grower standard' of potassium nitrate fertilizer use given the nutrient supplied and on recommendation from the fertilizer manufacturer SQM based on typical use. Typically, KNO<sub>3</sub> is utilized as a supplemental product during the growing season in response to plant need rather than a pre-season bulk application of potassium, like muriate of potash or sulfate of potash due to price/kg of potassium. The rate of 220 kg/ha fertigated over 8 weeks was selected as a typical use for this product, but the total iodine supplied was minimal at this rate. This was further exacerbated by the lowerthan-expected concentration of iodine in the product at 55% to 70% of expected label concentration (Figure 5). Even at 70% of advertised iodine, the total iodine application rate in the fertigation trials was only 0.154 kg I ha<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 2.4.3 Fertigating iodine: overcoming soil organic matter sorption

Applying trace concentrations of iodine as a fertigation treatment is not likely to be plantavailable for an extended period. The majority of iodine in a fertilizer application would be expected to immediately sorb to the organic matter with an estimated 10% remaining in the water soluble fraction theoretically available for plant uptake (Fuge & Johnson, 1986). CaCl<sub>2</sub> extraction of peat found that after only 2 hours, peat retained 25% of the IO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> applied, and after 2 days, iodine was no longer detectable in the extraction (Budke et al., 2021). California agricultural soils often have <1% organic matter and this level of absorption is unlikely, but each site had compost applications, cover crops, and woody pruning reincorporation that likely tied-up iodine; especially in the case of the avocado site that had large amounts of mulch applied. In these orchard experiment settings, a low rate of iodine application paired with large volumes of irrigation water mean the initial, and then continuous, dilution of iodine in the soil media is also extreme. To overcome these constraints, a higher concentration of iodine would be required that was impossible to achieve given the fixed concentration in UltrasolINE.

The iodine concentration required is also dependent on soil type, environmental conditions and the agricultural system being fertigated. In a field study of kohlrabi, >5.44 kg/ha of soil applied I was needed to raise the iodine concentration in the kohlrabi, and this large dose did not last beyond a single growing season (Lawson et al., 2015). In a multiple year study of soil applied iodine in potato, and tomato, a rate of 0.125 kg/ha had no impact on leaf iodine concentration until the rates were increased 20x and 40x in the second year of the trial (Caffagni et al., 2012). An orchard system is drastically different than these annual cropping systems in the volume of soil per plant and the total mass of each plant being treated. It is unknown if tree roots preferentially or passively uptake iodine, and this knowledge would drastically change our understanding of the soil concentrations required in an orchard.

The rates of iodine used in these fertigation trials in almond, pistachio, and avocado did not increase soil iodine concentration and there was no increase in iodine concentration in any of the plant tissues measured (roots and leaves) or in the soil immediately surrounding a drip irrigation emitter dispensing the treatment (Figure 26). This finding was contrary to expectations and may have been the consequence of consistent dilution and leaching from irrigation and low iodine application rates due to lower-than-expected iodine concentrations in the UltrasoIINE. Drip irrigated and fertigated orchard crops may require greater than the 0.154 kg I ha<sup>-1</sup> provided.

The findings in this study showed no response when these three orchard crops were fertigated at a low rate of iodine. This is evidence that a larger rate of iodine is required if iodine has any impact on these species,. This alone could be interpreted as evidence that these species are already naturally meeting their iodine 'requirement', or conversely, that insufficient iodine

was applied to elicit a response. In both cases, the supplementation of these crops with fertigation applied iodine at this rate was not beneficial at these trial locations.

#### 2.4.4 Plant iodine concentration differential

In almond, there was approximately 5x more iodine in roots when compared to the leaves, but a less pronounced differential of 2x in avocado (Figures from section 2.3.9). This differential was not a response to fertigation treatment, but rather a normal concentration gradient from baseline iodine present in soil, irrigation water, and other natural deposition sources. Phloem-mediated transport of iodine has been observed in plant species such as tomato and lettuce, and this decreasing gradient from roots to leaves has been observed in most other species studied (Caffagni et al., 2012; Gonzali et al., 2017; Landini et al., 2011; Smoleń et al., 2014; Weng et al., 2008). It has been suggested that iodine follows the transpiration stream since it is often higher in leaf tissue than in fruit, and older yellow cabbage leaves had lower iodine concentration than green leaves, but there has yet to be any direct evidence to support this (Budke et al., 2021; Weng et al., 2009). In both cases, a differential between plant organs could occur for a multitude of reasons not solely transpiration related.

In almond and pistachio, a variable leaf age iodine analysis would need to be done to see if there is canopy segmentation of iodine. Solely based on the low standard deviation seen in iodine leaf samples, this seems unlikely, but these samples were aggregations of multiple leaves collected around the radius of a tree and thus might have averaged out any variability (Table 6). Conducting a study ranking individual leaf characteristics such as age, sun exposure, relationship/distance to fruit. etc. and analyzing them individually for iodine would be beneficial to understand this natural variation. This variation is also worth exploring between a variety of species as the mean concentration of leaf iodine was significantly higher for avocado when compared to almond and pistachio. The avocado trial was geographically distinct from the almond and pistachio trials and subjected to different conditions such as coastal fog. It is unknown if this differential in plant iodine concentration is due to species specific characteristics or the specific growing conditions and iodine availability.

Table 6: Iodine content in leaf tissue samples

	mean	nean		
	µg/kg	Su	uı	
almond Leaves	8.67	1.82	32	
pistachio Leaves	6.54	0.79	50	
avocado leaves	42.43	13.38	22	

#### 2.4.5 Inorganic antioxidant - Foliar application timing

The efficacy of stress mitigation strategies hinges on appropriate timing, which is often unpredictable in an agricultural setting. Proactive interventions are ideal, as they can prevent stress-induced damage entirely. Foliar iodine application at the early onset of bloom aims to preemptively address potential stress periods. For iodine, whose stress mitigation mechanisms remain unclear, application near the onset of stress is a logical approach to potentially enhance antioxidant activity.

This hypothesis assumes that plants use iodine as an inorganic antioxidant in a similar way that kelp accumulate iodine during periods of low stress and utilize iodine during high stress, or that an application of iodine functions as a stress primer for future stresses (Küpper et al., 2008). However, research on iodine as a stress mitigator in plants typically introduces it concurrently with stress, not preemptively, and do not include an iodine alone treatment (Blasco et al., 2013; Gupta et al., 2015; Kiferle et al., 2022; Leyva et al., 2011). These studies showed that iodine elicits oxidate stress on plant cells at higher concentrations and in certain forms, and

iodine treated plants have increased activity of key antioxidant enzymes like superoxide dismutase, ascorbate peroxidase, and catalase. Without an iodine only treatment in prior studies, it is unclear if these increases in enzymes are in response to iodine itself, or the stress treatment.

Differential growth responses have been observed with the addition of iodine at the time of stress, but responses are not consistent between species or growth systems. This variable response suggests that species-specific relationship with iodine is important, and that the benefit is not universal. The benefits of iodine are linked to its presence at the appropriate time for two very different mechanisms and further works needs to be done to ensure applications are timed appropriately.

#### 2.4.6 Shifting bloom in almonds

Iodine was demonstrated to synchronize bloom in arabidopsis by Kiferle et al. (2021) through a theorized inorganic antioxidant effect translatable to other species. A synchronization in almond bloom could be either a beneficial or detrimental effect on almond fruit set depending on the year due to the complex blooming dynamics of almond. In years with short weather windows for bloom, a more uniform bloom could enable higher pollination to occur during ideal weather windows. In the case of mismatched emergence in single-field varieties, iodine could be used to better synchronize overlap with the main variety. However, a more synchronous bloom could also be detrimental as it decreases the length of bloom and thus concentrates the flower emergence to a shorter period; potentially resulting in the majority of bloom occurring during unfavorable bloom weather. The concentration of bloom might also saturate the number of available pollinators leading to reduced pollination unless hives/ha was increased to compensate. Though iodine applied as a bloom synchronization agent might not be beneficial, understanding

if a similar response as seen in arabidopsis would help in understanding the role of iodine in plants.

In these trials, iodine did not have a consistent impact on almond bloom as it did in arabidopsis. In the spur trial, there appeared to be a slight shift towards earlier bloom as well as a trend of ~5% increase in fruit (Figures 10, 11, and 15). However, neither of these trends were corroborated by the data from the whole-tree study (Figure 18 and Figure 21). Almond spurs have naturally high variability in bud number and flower timing, and low, often zero, nuts per spur. This introduces data sparsity issues and low census bias not able to be overcome by increasing the sample size. This high variance and low census number mean statistically it would be impossible to identify a p<0.05 significant result of a treatment measured daily and with minimal expected time shift. There may indeed be a shift in bloom timing, but natural variance prevents divergence of treatment means given the trial design.

In arabidopsis, Kiferle et al, (2021) found that iodine treated plants reached 100% bloom around nine days earlier than the control. This level of bloom shift would likely be detectable in an almond orchard, but the slight 1-2 day shift observed in iodine treated spurs was not statistically significant (Figure 10). The error bars in the arabidopsis study indicate a highly synchronous bloom in that trial that is also not replicable in almond given its natural variance. This may be a species-specific difference, or a challenge associated with replicating growth chamber studies in the field. In both cases, the lack of response seen in iodine treated full trees demonstrate that a meaningful shift in almond bloom is unlikely to occur with the low-rate foliar application used in this trial (Figure 18).

#### 2.4.7 Remote sensing for treatment differentiation

Conducting trials across multiple regions is only made possible through remotely sensed data. This data is valuable for monitoring large areas, but also has important limitations. The greatest limitation is the ability to sample at appropriate temporal and spatial resolution. Studying the shift in bloom dynamics using remotely sensed data provided important insight into the treatments in this trial, but hand counted spur data showed a far more complicated pattern than overall bloom seen remotely (Figure 9 and Figure 18). In almond, individual spurs are extremely variable and have tertiary buds that may or may not bloom depending on the success of primary buds. Trees are complex and 3-dimensional with historical cropping loads in different locations of the canopy as well as differential sunlight affecting each part; all of which influence the productivity of each spur. The challenges of hand counting almond blooms involves selecting a representative branch with a representative quantity of flowers to count. Each branch selected has complex source/sink dynamics that can easily dilute any effects seen between different trees. Aerial imagery of whole tree bloom provides greater understanding of a full tree's bloom rather than a just a spur or branch. Bloom characteristics are theoretically more reliable predictors of overall yield, but due to insect pollination and many other factors, successful bloom may not relate to final yield. Yield does, however, require a successful bloom. Any improvement to bloom and set enhances the possibility of improved yield. Yield is a complex nexus of many different factors each with overlapping impacts on ultimate yield.

Using monthly aerial imagery to compute NDVI and NDRE indices is helpful to understand tree status throughout the growing season and to determine if there were treatment effects. Aerial imagery has been shown to be effective in phenotypic differentiation in many breeding programs and this principal was applied to treatment differentiation in these trials (Rabab et al., 2021). These vegetation indices are indirect measurement tools of plant response to

stress, and therefore, any difference would need additional study to determine the cause. Iodine as a stress-reducing element would likely influence these indices as trees would be more capable of tolerating heat events and other stressor such as saline soils and pest and disease pressure. All prior work of iodine as a stress mitigation antioxidant made direct measurements of antioxidant production and other stress indicators, but also of indirect effect such as seed size and plant dry weight (Blasco et al., 2013; Gupta et al., 2015, 2016; Kiferle et al., 2022; Leyva et al., 2011). No author relied on vegetation indices, but the plant effects observed indicate that chlorophyll production and overall plant size was often influenced and theoretically would be distinguishable with a vegetation index. No difference in treatments was observed in NDVI or NDRE throughout the growing season in response to iodine applied in any of the treatments (Figure 24). In a perennial orchard system, there is a possibility that the benefits of iodine are only seen after multiple seasons of use. In almond, spur fruit set is negatively correlated with leaf area with higher yielding spurs having less leaf area and also decreased nitrogen concentration (Saa et al., 2017; Tombesi et al., 2015). No differences were observed in yield or in vegetation indices, suggesting iodine did not improve in-season plant status (Figure 21 and Figure 23). This indicates that a delayed benefit enhancing production the following year is unlikely.

#### **2.5 Conclusions**

This study found no impact of exogenous iodine when provided during bloom or as a beneficial element through fertigation during the growing season in almond, pistachio, or avocado. Trial applications did not supply enough iodine to increase concentrations in any measurable tissues beyond background level which could be responsible for the lack of results. There was no measurable impact of exogenous iodine on plant leaf nutrient content, yield, or NDVI throughout two growing seasons in almond and pistachio and a single growing season in

avocado. In these trials, low-rate exogenous iodine applied as an agricultural benefit ultimately showed no increase in yield.

In almond foliar trials, iodine was not found to be an influential antioxidant when applied at pink bud, but that does not mean it could not work in other circumstances or at other rates. It was also not demonstrated to shift bloom progress forward as was done in arabidopsis. In arabidopsis, it was theorized that because plant biomass production increased in iodine-treated plants in addition to an earlier flowering time, iodine had a "flowering-promoting" effect (Kiferle et al., 2021). However, it is possible that since this original study was done using separate growth chambers with each tray treated as a biological replicate, slight shifts in growing conditions of each chamber could have been responsible for this shift. Additionally, a significant change in plant biomass seen in arabidopsis could have influenced the bloom dynamics in those plants that would not be seen in a perennial orchard crop like almonds. Theoretically reducing reactive oxygen species during bloom should be beneficial, but it has yet to be demonstrated that iodine is capable of doing so in flowers.

The production of methyl iodide is an important factor to consider when studying the movement and allocation of iodine in plant tissues. Current analyses have treated iodine as a mobile element, but failed to account for volatilization that likely alters plant tissue concentrations. A low concentration in a tissue has been viewed as a low preferential movement of iodine. However, this was found not to be the case in rice that had large movement of iodine with proportional volatilization leading to low concentrations in plant tissues (Kato et al., 2013). Other agronomic species have demonstrated similar abilities to volatilize iodine, and the increased study of this ability could drastically alter our current understanding of iodine in

plants. This study made no measurement of methyl iodide production, but given the potential for iodine loss, it should be considered in future work.

In conclusion, there was found to be no agronomic benefit of applying low rates of iodine as fertigation in these three crops, or as a foliar antioxidant treatment in almonds during bloom. This study was the first iodine study in these perennial orchard crops, and one of only a few in commercial production field conditions for any species. Most iodine studies to date have been conducted in controlled environments and the lack of significant results seen in this study indicate that additional study is needed to translate prior work to the field environment. Maintaining soil iodine at concentrations equivalent to those used in hydroponic studies requires a large amount of iodine in orchard settings and a possible alternative application method might need to be explored given the dynamic nature of soil. Foliar application of iodine to green leaf tissue in-season could be a potential alternative for supplying iodine, but additional work is needed to determine appropriate timing and rates.

# **2.6 Supplementary Documents**



Supplementary Data 1: Photo of hail stone from March 13<sup>th</sup> 2023 hailstorm at KG ranch that removed the majority of flowers in the orchard.



Supplementary Data 2: Results from exploratory soil samples to assess iodine concetration in California agricultural soils.



Supplementary Data 3: Layout of avocado field trial near Temecula, Califorrnia.



Supplementary Data 4: Figure from "An enhanced bloom index for quantifying floral phenology using multi-scale remote sensing observations" (Chen et al., 2019)

Table 1           Description of the phenological growth stages of avocado (Persea americana Mill.)           according to the BBCH scale.				
BBCH code	Description (mesostage 1)			
Principal growth stage 0: vegetative bu	d development			
010	Vegetative buds dormant			
011	Beginning of bud swell			
013	End of bud swell			
017 019	End of bud break			
Principal growth stage 1: primary leaf	expansion			
110	First leaves separating			
111	First leaf unfolded			
112	More leaves unfolded. First leaf			
113	at 20% of its full size			
115	at 30% of its full size			
11.	Stages continue until			
119	All leaves unfolded and fully expanded			
Principal growth stage 2: avillary (aulto	expanded			
210	No sylleptic shoots visible			
210	First sylleptic shoot visible			
212	Two sylleptic shoots visible			
212	Three sylleptic shoots visible			
21.	Stages continue until			
219	Nine or more sylleptic shoots			
	visible			
Principal growth stage 3: primary shoo	t extension			
310	Beginning of shoot extension			
311	10% of final shoot length			
312	20% of final shoot length			
31.	Stages continue until			
319	90% or more of final shoot			
	length			
Principal growth stage 5: reproductive	development Benne ductive bude dormont			
510	Reproductive buds dofinant			
511	swell			
512	End of reproductive bud swell			
513	Reproductive bud break			
515	Inflorescences 50% of final			
517	length Inflorescences 70% of final			
517	length			
519	End of inflorescence extension			
Principal growth stage 6: flowering				
610	First flowers open			
611	10% of flowers opened			
612	20% of flowers opened			
61.	Stages continue until			
619	90% or more of flowers opened			
Principal growth stage 7: fruit developr	No overv growth visible			
710	Initial ovary growth			
711	First fruitlet abscission			
712	50% of final fruit size			
71.	Stages continue until			
719	90% or more of final fruit size			
-				

Supplementary Data 5: Description of scale used to assess avocado bloom progression From (Alcaraz et al., 2013)

Supplementary Data 6: UV/Vis Spectrophotometric Method for Detection of Iodine in Fertilizer based on Silva et al., 1997

# 1. Preparation of Reagents:

- Solution 1:Phosphoric acid
  - 1. 11.5g phosphoric acid (85%) up to 100mL to make 1.0 mol  $L^{-1}$
- Solution 2: Potassium Iodide
  - 1. 3.32g of potassium Iodide plus 1mL of 0.1 mol L<sup>-1</sup>Sodium Hydroxide to make 100mL
- Solution 3: Potassium Iodate: To make a solution with 100mg/L of Iodine
  - 1. Add 168.5mg Potassium Iodate to 100ml water
  - 2. Add 1ml of that to 9ml of water for 10x dilution
- Solution 4: Potassium Nitrate Blank solution (Ultrasol)
  - 1. 5g of fertilizer in 100ml

# 2. Preparation of UV Calibration Curve

- Standards: .1,1.0,2.5,5.0,10.0 mg I/L
  - 1. 1ml Solution 2 Potassium Iodide
  - 2. 2ml of Solution 4 Potassium Nitrate Blank
  - 3. 1ml Solution 1 Phosphoric acid
  - 4. Corresponding amounts of solution 3
    - 1. 1: 0.1ml +9.9ml H<sub>2</sub>O
    - 2. 10: 1ml+9 ml H<sub>2</sub>O
    - 3. 25: 2.5ml+7.5 ml H<sub>2</sub>O
    - 4. 50: 5ml+5ml H<sub>2</sub>O
    - 5. 100: 10ml
- Total volume should be 14ml
- Then dilute 10x for curve

# 3. Procedure:

# • For Samples based on volume of Cuvettes

- 1. 1 ml Solution 1:Phosphoric acid
- 2. 1ml Solution 2: Potassium Iodide
- 3. 2ml sample solution
  - 1. Solution will turn yellow. Store in dark area for 10 minutes for reaction to occur
- 4. Dilute 10x and analyze

## 4. Measurement:

Measure the absorbance at 288nm using the UV/VIS spectrophotometer (Silva et al., 1998). Make sure to have correct cuvettes for wavelength. Acrylic or UV-transparent required



Supplementary Data 7: Standard curve from Thermo Scientific GENESYS 10 UV-Vis Spectrophotometers for detection of iodine in fertilizer.

### 2.7 References

- Alcaraz, M. L., Thorp, T. G., & Hormaza, J. I. (2013). Phenological growth stages of avocado (*Persea americana*) according to the BBCH scale. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 164, 434–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2013.09.051
- Amachi, S., Kasahara, M., Hanada, S., Kamagata, Y., Shinoyama, H., Fujii, T., & Muramatsu, Y.
   (2003). Microbial Participation in Iodine Volatilization from Soils. *Environmental* Science & Technology, 37(17), 3885–3890. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0210751
- Angeletti, L., & Levi, Emilio. (1977). A comparative study of transfer factors of water, iodine and strontium on rye-grass and clover Development of a model of evaluation of the limits of foliar contamination by wet deposit(In French) (p. 36). http://inis.iaea.org/search/search.aspx?orig\_q=RN:09360299

- Arpaia, M. L., Fetscher, A. E., & Hofshi, R. (2023, May 28). Avocado Flowering Basics | Avocado Variety Collection. University of California, Riverside. https://avocado.ucr.edu/avocado-flowering-basics
- Ashworth, D. J., & Shaw, G. (2006). Effects of moisture content and redox potential on in situ Kd values for radioiodine in soil. *Science of The Total Environment*, 359(1), 244–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.04.018
- Baccarini, A., Karlsson, L., Dommen, J., Duplessis, P., Vüllers, J., Brooks, I. M., Saiz-Lopez, A., Salter, M., Tjernström, M., Baltensperger, U., Zieger, P., & Schmale, J. (2020). Frequent new particle formation over the high Arctic pack ice by enhanced iodine emissions. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 4924. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18551-0
- Baker, A. R. (2005). Marine Aerosol Iodine Chemistry: The Importance of Soluble Organic Iodine. *Environmental Chemistry*, 2(4), 295–298. https://doi.org/10.1071/EN05070
- Ban-nai, T., Muramatsu, Y., & Amachi, S. (2006). Rate of iodine volatilization and accumulation by filamentous fungi through laboratory cultures. *Chemosphere*, 65(11), 2216–2222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.05.047
- Behrens, H. (1982). *New insights into the chemical behaviour of radioiodine in aquatic environments* (p. 14). http://inis.iaea.org/search/search.aspx?orig\_q=RN:14778818
- Bianchi, M. (2012, October 30). Avocado Phenology Using Digital Monitoring to Improve Grove Management Decisions. University of California Cooperative Extension, San Luis Obispo. https://www.californiaavocadogrowers.com/sites/default/files/Avocadophenology-Using-digital-monitoring-to-improve-grove-management-decisions.pdf
- Biban, B., & Lichiardopol, C. (2017). Iodine Deficiency, Still a Global Problem? *Current Health Sciences Journal*, 43(2), 103–111. https://doi.org/10.12865/CHSJ.43.02.01

- Blasco, B., Leyva, R., Romero, L., & Ruiz, J. M. (2013). Iodine Effects on Phenolic Metabolism in Lettuce Plants under Salt Stress. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 61(11), 2591–2596. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf303917n
- Blasco, B., Rios, J. j., Cervilla, L. m., Sánchez-Rodrigez, E., Ruiz, J. m., & Romero, L. (2008).
  Iodine biofortification and antioxidant capacity of lettuce: Potential benefits for cultivation and human health. *Annals of Applied Biology*, *152*(3), 289–299.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.2008.00217.x
- Blasco, B., Ríos, J. J., Leyva, R., Cervilla, L. M., Sánchez-Rodríguez, E., Rubio-Wilhelmi, M.
  M., Rosales, M. A., Ruiz, J. M., & Romero, L. (2011). Does Iodine Biofortification
  Affect Oxidative Metabolism in Lettuce Plants? *Biological Trace Element Research*, 142(3), 831–842. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-010-8816-9
- Bors, J. (1992). The contribution of microbial biomass to the adsorption of radioiodide in soils. *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, 15, 35–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/0265-931X(92)90041-Q
- Borst Pauwels, G. W. F. H. (1961). Iodine as a micronutrient for plants. *Plant and Soil*, *14*(4), 377–392. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01666295
- Bowley, H. E., Young, S. D., Ander, E. L., Crout, N. M. J., Watts, M. J., & Bailey, E. H. (2016). Iodine binding to humic acid. *Chemosphere*, 157, 208–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.05.028
- Bradford, G. R., Change, A. C., Page, A. L., Bakhtar, D., Frampton, J. A., & H. Wright. (1996).
   Background Concentrations of Trace and Major Elements in California Soils. University of California.

- Brown, P. H., Zhao, F.-J., & Dobermann, A. (2022). What is a plant nutrient? Changing definitions to advance science and innovation in plant nutrition. *Plant and Soil*, 476(1), 11–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-021-05171-w
- Budke, C., Dierend, W., Schön, H.-G., Hora, K., Mühling, K. H., & Daum, D. (2021). Iodine
  Biofortification of Apples and Pears in an Orchard Using Foliar Sprays of Different
  Composition. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *12*, 638671.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.638671

- Caffagni, A., Pecchioni, N., Meriggi, P., Bucci, V., Sabatini, E., Acciarri, N., Ciriaci, T., Pulcini, L., Felicioni, N., Beretta, M., & Milc, J. (2012). Iodine uptake and distribution in horticultural and fruit tree species. *Italian Journal of Agronomy*, 7e32, 229–236. https://doi.org/10.4081/ija.2012.e32
- Cakmak, I., Prom-u-thai, C., Guilherme, L. R. G., Rashid, A., Hora, K. H., Yazici, A., Savasli,
  E., Kalayci, M., Tutus, Y., Phuphong, P., Rizwan, M., Martins, F. A. D., Dinali, G. S., &
  Ozturk, L. (2017). Iodine biofortification of wheat, rice and maize through fertilizer
  strategy. *Plant and Soil*, *418*(1–2), 319–335. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-017-3295-9
- Carlessi, M., Mariotti, L., Giaume, F., Fornara, F., Perata, P., & Gonzali, S. (2021). Targeted knockout of the gene OsHOL1 removes methyl iodide emissions from rice plants. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 17010. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-95198-x
- Carpenter, L. J. (2003). Iodine in the Marine Boundary Layer. *Chemical Reviews*, 103(12), 4953–4962. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr0206465
- Chakraborty, M., Pourreza, A., Zhang, X., Jafarbiglu, H., Shackel, K. A., & DeJong, T. (2023). Early almond yield forecasting by bloom mapping using aerial imagery and deep

learning. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, *212*, 108063. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2023.108063

- Chen, B., Jin, Y., & Brown, P. (2019). An enhanced bloom index for quantifying floral phenology using multi-scale remote sensing observations. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, *156*, 108–120.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2019.08.006
- Cosse, A., Potin, P., & Leblanc, C. (2009). Patterns of gene expression induced by oligoguluronates reveal conserved and environment-specific molecular defense responses in the brown alga Laminaria digitata. *New Phytologist*, *182*(1), 239–250. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02745.x
- Davis, D., Crawford, J., Liu, S., McKeen, S., Bandy, A., Thornton, D., Rowland, F., & Blake, D. (1996). Potential impact of iodine on tropospheric levels of ozone and other critical oxidants. *JOURNAL OF GEOPHYSICAL RESEARCH-ATMOSPHERES*, 101(D1), 2135– 2147. https://doi.org/10.1029/95JD02727
- Delange, F. (1994). The Disorders Induced by Iodine Deficiency. *Thyroid*, 4(1), 107–128. https://doi.org/10.1089/thy.1994.4.107
- Duborská, E., Bujdoš, M., Urík, M., & Matúš, P. (2020). Iodine fractionation in agricultural and forest soils using extraction methods. *CATENA*, 195, 104749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2020.104749
- Egea, J., Ortega, E., Martínez-Gómez, P., & Dicenta, F. (2003). Chilling and heat requirements of almond cultivars for flowering. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 50(1), 79–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0098-8472(03)00002-9

- EL-Sayed, N. (2019). Improvement the Productivity and Quality of Pelargonium× hortorum L.
   Plants by Using Different Applications of Potassium Iodide (KI). *Egyptian Journal of Horticulture*, 0(0), 0–0. https://doi.org/10.21608/ejoh.2019.10016.1100
- Fernandez, E., Baird, G., Farías, D., Oyanedel, E., Olaeta, J. A., Brown, P., Zwieniecki, M., Tixier, A., & Saa, S. (2018). Fruit load in almond spurs define starch and total soluble carbohydrate concentration and therefore their survival and bloom probabilities in the next season. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 237, 269–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2018.04.030
- Fuge, R. (1990). The role of volatility in the distribution of iodine in the secondary environment. *Applied Geochemistry*, 5(3), 357–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/0883-2927(90)90010-3

Fuge, R. (2013). Soils and Iodine Deficiency. In O. Selinus (Ed.), *Essentials of Medical Geology: Revised Edition* (pp. 417–432). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4375-5\_17

- Fuge, R., & Johnson, C. C. (1986). The geochemistry of iodine—A review. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 8(2), 31–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02311063
- Fuge, R., & Johnson, C. C. (2015). Iodine and human health, the role of environmental geochemistry and diet, a review. *Applied Geochemistry*, 63, 282–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeochem.2015.09.013
- Fukui, M., Fujikawa, Y., & Satta, N. (1996). Factors affecting interaction of radioiodide and iodate species with soil. *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, 31(2), 199–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/0265-931X(95)00039-D

- Gaeta, L., Stellacci, A. M., & Losciale, P. (2018). Evaluation of three modelling approaches for almond blooming in Mediterranean climate conditions. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 97, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2018.04.005
- Gilfedder, B. S., Petri, M., & Biester, H. (2007). Iodine speciation in rain and snow: Implications for the atmospheric iodine sink. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, *112*(D7). https://doi.org/10.1029/2006JD007356
- Gonzali, S., Kiferle, C., & Perata, P. (2017). Iodine biofortification of crops: Agronomic biofortification, metabolic engineering and iodine bioavailability. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 44, 16–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2016.10.004
- Groufh-Jacobsen, S., Hess, S. Y., Aakre, I., Folven Gjengedal, E. L., Blandhoel Pettersen, K., & Henjum, S. (2020). Vegans, Vegetarians and Pescatarians Are at Risk of Iodine
  Deficiency in Norway. *Nutrients*, *12*(11), 3555. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12113555
- Grzanka, M., Smoleń, S., Skoczylas, Ł., & Grzanka, D. (2021). Biofortification of Sweetcorn with Iodine: Interaction of Organic and Inorganic Forms of Iodine Combined with Vanadium. *Agronomy*, 11(9), 1720. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11091720
- Gupta, N., Bajpai, M. S., Majumdar, R. S., & Mishra, P. K. (2015). *Response of Iodine on Antioxidant Levels of Glycine max L. Grown under Cd2+ Stress.*
- Gupta, N., Bajpai, M. S., Majumdar, R. S., & Singh, D. (2016). Effect of exogenous iodine on enhancement of oxidative stress in soybean (Glycine max) plant and partial expression of 1-Cys peroxiredoxin gene under heat-stress conditions. *The Indian Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 86(5). https://doi.org/10.56093/ijas.v86i5.58356
- Hageman, R. H., Hodge, E. S., & McHargue, J. S. (1942). Effect of Potassium Iodide on the Ascorbic Acid Content and Growth of Tomato Plants. *Plant Physiology*, 17(3), 465–472.

- Halka, M., Smoleń, S., Czernicka, M., Klimek-Chodacka, M., Pitala, J., & Tutaj, K. (2019).
  Iodine biofortification through expression of HMT, SAMT and S3H genes in Solanum
  lycopersicum L. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, *144*, 35–48.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2019.09.028
- Hansford Shacklette, & Boerngen, J. (1984a). *Element Concentrations in Soils and Other Surficial Materials of the Conterminous United States* (Professional Paper U.S.
  Geological Survey Professional Paper 1270; Professional Paper). U.S. Geological
  Survey.
- Hansford Shacklette, & Boerngen, J. (1984b). *Element Concentrations in Soils and Other Surficial Materials of the Conterminous United States* (Professional Paper U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1270; Professional Paper). U.S. Geological Survey.
- Hatch-McChesney, A., & Lieberman, H. R. (2022). Iodine and Iodine Deficiency: A Comprehensive Review of a Re-Emerging Issue. *Nutrients*, 14(17), 3474. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu14173474
- Hu, Q. H., Moran, J. E., & Gan, J. Y. (2012). Sorption, degradation, and transport of methyl iodide and other iodine species in geologic media. *Applied Geochemistry*, 27(3), 774–781. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeochem.2011.12.022
- Humphrey, O. S., Young, S. D., Bailey, E. H., Crout, N. M. J., Ander, E. L., Hamilton, E. M., & Watts, M. J. (2019). Iodine uptake, storage and translocation mechanisms in spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.). *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, *41*(5), 2145–2156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-019-00272-z

- Itoh, N., Toda, H., Matsuda, M., Negishi, T., Taniguchi, T., & Ohsawa, N. (2009). Involvement of S-adenosylmethionine-dependent halide/thiol methyltransferase (HTMT) in methyl halide emissions from agricultural plants: Isolation and characterization of an HTMTcoding gene from Raphanus sativus(daikon radish). *BMC Plant Biology*, 9(1), 116. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-9-116
- Ittermann, T., Albrecht, D., Arohonka, P., Bilek, R., de Castro, J. J., Dahl, L., Filipsson Nystrom,
  H., Gaberscek, S., Garcia-Fuentes, E., Gheorghiu, M. L., Hubalewska-Dydejczyk, A.,
  Hunziker, S., Jukic, T., Karanfilski, B., Koskinen, S., Kusic, Z., Majstorov, V., Makris,
  K. C., Markou, K. B., ... Völzke, H. (2020). Standardized Map of Iodine Status in
  Europe. *Thyroid*®, *30*(9), 1346–1354. https://doi.org/10.1089/thy.2019.0353
- Jalal, A., Oliveira Junior, J. C. de, Ribeiro, J. S., Fernandes, G. C., Mariano, G. G., Trindade, V.
  D. R., & Reis, A. R. dos. (2021). Hormesis in plants: Physiological and biochemical responses. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 207, 111225.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.111225
- Jensen, H., Orth, B., Reiser, R., Bürge, D., Lehto, N. J., Almond, P., Gaw, S., Thomson, B., Lilburne, L., & Robinson, B. (2019). Environmental Parameters Affecting the Concentration of Iodine in New Zealand Pasture. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 48(5), 1517–1523. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2019.03.0128
- Johnson, C. C. (2003). Database of the iodine content of soils populated with data from published literature. British Geological Survey.
- Kaiser, B. N., GRIDLEY, K. L., NGAIRE BRADY, J., PHILLIPS, T., & TYERMAN, S. D.
  (2005). The Role of Molybdenum in Agricultural Plant Production. *Annals of Botany*, 96(5), 745–754. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mci226

- Kato, S., Wachi, T., Yoshihira, K., Nakagawa, T., Ishikawa, A., Takagi, D., Tezuka, A.,
  Yoshida, H., Yoshida, S., Sekimoto, H., & Takahashi, M. (2013). Rice (Oryza sativa L.)
  roots have iodate reduction activity in response to iodine. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 4.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00227
- Kettenburg, A. J., Hanspach, J., Abson, D. J., & Fischer, J. (2018). From disagreements to dialogue: Unpacking the Golden Rice debate. *Sustainability Science*, *13*(5), 1469–1482. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-018-0577-y
- Kiferle, C., Gonzali, S., Beltrami, S., Martinelli, M., Hora, K., Holwerda, H. T., & Perata, P. (2022). Improvement in fruit yield and tolerance to salinity of tomato plants fertigated with micronutrient amounts of iodine. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), 14655. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-18301-w
- Kiferle, C., Martinelli, M., Salzano, A. M., Gonzali, S., Beltrami, S., Salvadori, P. A., Hora, K., Holwerda, H. T., Scaloni, A., & Perata, P. (2021). Evidences for a Nutritional Role of Iodine in Plants. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *12*, 616868. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.616868
- Koenig, T. K., Baidar, S., Campuzano-Jost, P., Cuevas, C. A., Dix, B., Fernandez, R. P., Guo,
  H., Hall, S. R., Kinnison, D., Nault, B. A., Ullmann, K., Jimenez, J. L., Saiz-Lopez, A., &
  Volkamer, R. (2020). Quantitative detection of iodine in the stratosphere. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *117*(4), 1860–1866.
  https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1916828117
- Küpper, F. C., Carpenter, L. J., McFiggans, G. B., Palmer, C. J., Waite, T. J., Boneberg, E.-M.,Woitsch, S., Weiller, M., Abela, R., Grolimund, D., Potin, P., Butler, A., Luther, G. W.,Kroneck, P. M. H., Meyer-Klaucke, W., & Feiters, M. C. (2008). Iodide accumulation

provides kelp with an inorganic antioxidant impacting atmospheric chemistry. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105(19), 6954–6958. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0709959105

- Landini, M., Gonzali, S., & Perata, P. (2011). Iodine biofortification in tomato. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, *174*(3), 480–486. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.201000395
- Lawson, P. G., Daum, D., Czauderna, R., Meuser, H., & Härtling, J. W. (2015). Soil versus foliar iodine fertilization as a biofortification strategy for field-grown vegetables. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00450
- Leblanc, C., Colin, C., Cosse, A., Delage, L., La Barre, S., Morin, P., Fievet, B., Voiseux, C., Ambroise, Y., Verhaeghe, E., Amouroux, D., Donard, O., Tessier, E., & Potin, P. (2006). Iodine transfers in the coastal marine environment: The key role of brown algae and of their vanadium-dependent haloperoxidases. *BIOCHIMIE*, *88*(11), 1773–1785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2006.09.001
- Lehr, J. J., Wybenga, J. M., & Rosanow, M. (1958). Iodine as a Micronutrient for Tomatoes. *Plant Physiology*, 33(6), 421–427. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.33.6.421
- Leung, A. M., Braverman, L. E., & Pearce, E. N. (2012). History of U.S. Iodine Fortification and Supplementation. *Nutrients*, *4*(11), 1740–1746. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu4111740
- Leyva, R., Sánchez-Rodríguez, E., Ríos, J. J., Rubio-Wilhelmi, M. M., Romero, L., Ruiz, J. M., & Blasco, B. (2011). Beneficial effects of exogenous iodine in lettuce plants subjected to salinity stress. *Plant Science*, 181(2), 195–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2011.05.007
- Liu, Q., Wang, X., Zhai, D., Zhang, B., Nie, L., Chi, Q., Zhou, J., Wang, W., Liu, H., Liu, D., Zhou, Y., & Chang, C. (2024). *Relationship between Distribution of Iodine in Soils and*

*Iodine Deficiency Disorders (Idd) In China* (SSRN Scholarly Paper 4821760). https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4821760

- Martinez-Medina, A., Flors, V., Heil, M., Mauch-Mani, B., Pieterse, C. M. J., Pozo, M. J., Ton, J., Van Dam, N. M., & Conrath, U. (2016). Recognizing Plant Defense Priming. *Trends in Plant Science*, 21(10), 818–822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2016.07.009
- Mattson, M. P. (2008). Hormesis defined. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 7(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2007.08.007
- Medrano-Macías, J., Leija-Martínez, P., González-Morales, S., Juárez-Maldonado, A., &
  Benavides-Mendoza, A. (2016). Use of Iodine to Biofortify and Promote Growth and
  Stress Tolerance in Crops. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01146
- Montgomery, D. R., & Biklé, A. (2021). Soil Health and Nutrient Density: Beyond Organic vs. Conventional Farming. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 5. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsufs.2021.699147
- Montgomery, D. R., Biklé, A., Archuleta, R., Brown, P., & Jordan, J. (2022). Soil health and nutrient density: Preliminary comparison of regenerative and conventional farming. *PeerJ*, 10, e12848. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.12848
- Muhammad, S., Sanden, B. L., Lampinen, B. D., Saa, S., Siddiqui, M. I., Smart, D. R., Olivos,
  A., Shackel, K. A., DeJong, T., & Brown, P. H. (2015). Seasonal changes in nutrient
  content and concentrations in a mature deciduous tree species: Studies in almond (*Prunus dulcis* (Mill.) D. A. Webb). *European Journal of Agronomy*, 65, 52–68.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2015.01.004

- Muhammad, S., Sanden, B. L., Saa, S., Lampinen, B. D., Smart, D. R., Shackel, K. A., DeJong, T. M., & Brown, P. H. (2018). Optimization of nitrogen and potassium nutrition to improve yield and yield parameters of irrigated almond (*Prunus dulcis* (Mill.) D. A. webb). *Scientia Horticulturae*, 228, 204–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2017.10.024
- Muller, H., & Prohl, G. (1993). A Dynamic Model for Assessing Radiological Consequences of Nuclear Accidents. *Health Physics*, 64(3), 232–252. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004032-199303000-00002
- Nagatoshi, Y., & Nakamura, T. (2009). Arabidopsis HARMLESS TO OZONE LAYER Protein Methylates a Glucosinolate Breakdown Product and Functions in Resistance to Pseudomonas syringae pv. Maculicola. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(29), 19301–19309. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.001032
- Nascimento, V. L., Souza, B. C. O. Q., Lopes, G., & Guilherme, L. R. G. (2022). On the Role of Iodine in Plants: A Commentary on Benefits of This Element. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 13, 836835. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.836835
- National Institutes of Health. (2024, May 1). *Office of Dietary Supplements—Iodine*. https://ods.od.nih.gov/factsheets/Iodine-HealthProfessional/
- Niwattisaiwong, S., Burman, K. D., & Li-Ng, M. (2017). Iodine deficiency: Clinical implications. *Cleveland Clinic Journal of Medicine*, 84(3), 236–244. https://doi.org/10.3949/ccjm.84a.15053
- Ohlhorst, S. D., Slavin, M., Bhide, J. M., & Bugusu, B. (2012). Use of Iodized Salt in Processed Foods in Select Countries Around the World and the Role of Food Processors.

Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 11(2), 233–284. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-4337.2011.00182.x

- Paine, J. A., Shipton, C. A., Chaggar, S., Howells, R. M., Kennedy, M. J., Vernon, G., Wright, S. Y., Hinchliffe, E., Adams, J. L., Silverstone, A. L., & Drake, R. (2005). Improving the nutritional value of Golden Rice through increased pro-vitamin A content. *Nature Biotechnology*, 23(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1082
- Pearce, E. N. (2007). National Trends in Iodine Nutrition: Is Everyone Getting Enough? *Thyroid*®, 17(9), 823–827. https://doi.org/10.1089/thy.2007.0102
- Pennington, J. A. T., & Young, B. (1990). Iron, zinc, copper, manganese, selenium, and iodine in foods from the United States total diet study. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 3(2), 166–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/0889-1575(90)90022-E
- Puentedura, O., Gil, M., Saiz-Lopez, A., Hay, T., Navarro-Comas, M., Gómez-Pelaez, A., Cuevas, E., Iglesias, J., & Gomez, L. (2012). Iodine monoxide in the north subtropical free troposphere. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, *12*(11), 4909–4921. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-12-4909-2012
- Rabab, S., Breen, E., Gebremedhin, A., Shi, F., Badenhorst, P., Chen, Y.-P. P., & Daetwyler, H.
  D. (2021). A New Method for Extracting Individual Plant Bio-Characteristics from High-Resolution Digital Images. *Remote Sensing*, *13*(6), Article 6.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13061212
- Redeker, K. R., Wang, N.-Y., Low, J. C., McMillan, A., Tyler, S. C., & Cicerone, R. J. (2000).
  Emissions of Methyl Halides and Methane from Rice Paddies. *Science*, 290(5493), 966–969. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.290.5493.966

- Riyazuddin, R., Singh, K., Iqbal, N., Nisha, N., Rani, A., Kumar, M., Khatri, N., Siddiqui, M. H.,
  Yasheshwar, Kim, S. T., Attila, F., & Gupta, R. (2023). Iodine: An emerging
  biostimulant of growth and stress responses in plants. *Plant and Soil*, 486(1–2), 119–133.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-022-05750-5
- Robson, A., Rahman, M. M., & Muir, J. (2017). Using Worldview Satellite Imagery to Map Yield in Avocado (Persea americana): A Case Study in Bundaberg, Australia. *Remote Sensing*, 9(12), Article 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs9121223
- Rosenfeld, L. (2000). Discovery and Early Uses of Iodine. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 77(8), 984. https://doi.org/10.1021/ed077p984
- Saa, S., Fernández, E., Muhammad, S., Río, A. O.-D., DeJong, T. M., Laca, E., & Brown, P. (2017). Increases in leaf nitrogen concentration and leaf area did not enhance spur survival and return bloom in almonds (Prunus dulcis [Mill.] DA Webb). *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, 39(4), 107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-017-2401-1
- Saini, H. S., Attieh, J. M., & Hanson, A. D. (1995). Biosynthesis of halomethanes and methanethiol by higher plants via a novel methyltransferase reaction. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 18(9), 1027–1033. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.1995.tb00613.x
- Saiz-Lopez, A., Plane, J. M. C., Baker, A. R., Carpenter, L. J., von Glasow, R., Martín, J. C. G., McFiggans, G., & Saunders, R. W. (2012). Atmospheric chemistry of iodine. *Chemical Reviews*, 112(3), 1773–1804. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr200029u
- Salazar-García, S., Lord, E. M., & Lovatt, C. J. (1998). Inflorescence and Flower Development of the `Hass' Avocado (Persea americana Mill.) during "On" and "Off" Crop Years. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 123(4), 537–544. https://doi.org/10.21273/JASHS.123.4.537
- Santiago-Fernandez, P., Torres-Barahona, R., Muela-Martínez, J. A., Rojo-Martínez, G., García-Fuentes, E., Garriga, M. J., León, A. G., & Soriguer, F. (2004). Intelligence Quotient and Iodine Intake: A Cross-Sectional Study in Children. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 89(8), 3851–3857. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2003-031652
- Seki, M., Oikawa, J., Taguchi, T., Ohnuki, T., Muramatsu, Y., Sakamoto, K., & Amachi, S. (2013). Laccase-Catalyzed Oxidation of Iodide and Formation of Organically Bound Iodine in Soils. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *47*(1), 390–397. https://doi.org/10.1021/es303228n
- Shaw, G., Scott, L. K., & Kinnersley, R. P. (2007). Sorption of caesium, iodine and sulphur in solution to the adaxial leaf surface of broad bean (*Vicia faba* L.). *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 59(3), 361–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2006.04.008
- Sheppard, S. C., & Motycka, M. (1997). Is the akagare phenomenon important to iodine uptake by wild rice (*Zizania aquatica*)? *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, 37(3), 339–353. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0265-931X(96)00077-X
- Shetaya, W. H., Young, S. D., Watts, M. J., Ander, E. L., & Bailey, E. H. (2012). Iodine dynamics in soils. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 77, 457–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2011.10.034
- Silva, R., Oliveira, A. F., & Neves, E. (1998). Spectrophotometric Determination of Iodate in Table Salt. *Journal of the Brazilian Chemical Society*, 9, 171–174. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0103-50531998000200009
- Smoleń, S., Czernicka, M., Kowalska, I., Kęska, K., Halka, M., Grzebelus, D., Grzanka, M., Skoczylas, Ł., Pitala, J., Koronowicz, A., & Kováčik, P. (2021). New Aspects of Uptake and Metabolism of Non-organic and Organic Iodine Compounds—The Role of

Vanadium and Plant-Derived Thyroid Hormone Analogs in Lettuce. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *12*, 653168. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.653168

- Smoleń, S., Kowalska, I., Halka, M., Ledwożyw-Smoleń, I., Grzanka, M., Skoczylas, Ł.,
  Czernicka, M., & Pitala, J. (2019). SelectedAspects of Iodate and Iodosalicylate
  Metabolism in Lettuce Including the Activity of Vanadium Dependent Haloperoxidases
  as Affected by Exogenous Vanadium. *Agronomy*, *10*(1), 1.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10010001
- Smoleń, S., Kowalska, I., & Sady, W. (2014). Assessment of biofortification with iodine and selenium of lettuce cultivated in the NFT hydroponic system. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *166*, 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2013.11.011
- Smoleń, S., & Sady, W. (2012). Influence of iodine form and application method on the effectiveness of iodine biofortification, nitrogen metabolism as well as the content of mineral nutrients and heavy metals in spinach plants (Spinacia oleracea L.). *Scientia Horticulturae*, 143, 176–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2012.06.006
- Smyth, D., & Johnson, C. C. (2011). Distribution of iodine in soils of Northern Ireland. Geochemistry: Exploration, Environment, Analysis, 11(1), 25–39. https://doi.org/10.1144/1467-7873/09-015
- Suzuki, M., Eda, Y., Ohsawa, S., Kanesaki, Y., Yoshikawa, H., Tanaka, K., Muramatsu, Y.,
  Yoshikawa, J., Sato, I., Fujii, T., & Amachi, S. (2012). Iodide Oxidation by a Novel
  Multicopper Oxidase from the Alphaproteobacterium Strain Q-1. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78(11), 3941–3949. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00084-

- Teas, J., Pino, S., Critchley, A., & Braverman, L. E. (2004). Variability of iodine content in common commercially available edible seaweeds. *Thyroid: Official Journal of the American Thyroid Association*, 14(10), 836–841. https://doi.org/10.1089/thy.2004.14.836
- The Institute of Medicine, Food, and Nutrition Board. (2001). Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium, and Zinc" at NAP. National Academy Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/10026
- The Iodine Global Network. (2021). *Global scorecard of iodine nutrition in 2020 in the general population based on school-age children (SAC)*. IGN Ottawa Canada.
- Tombesi, S., Lampinen, B. D., Metcalf, S., & DeJong, T. M. (2015). Spur Fruit Set Is Negatively Related with Current-year Spur Leaf Area in Almond. *HortScience*, *50*(2), 322–325. https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI.50.2.322
- Tombesi, S., Lampinen, B., Metcalf, S., & Dejong, T. (2016). Yield in almond is related more to the abundance of flowers than the relative number of flowers that set fruit. *California Agriculture*, 70. https://doi.org/10.3733/ca.2016a0024
- Tschiersch, J., Shinonaga, T., & Heuberger, H. (2009). Dry deposition of gaseous radioiodine and particulate radiocaesium onto leafy vegetables. *Science of The Total Environment*, 407(21), 5685–5693. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.06.025
- Tsunogai, S. (1971). Iodine in the deep water of the ocean. *Deep Sea Research and* Oceanographic Abstracts, 18(9), 913–919. https://doi.org/10.1016/0011-7471(71)90065-9

- Umaly, R. C., & Poel, L. W. (1971). Effects of lodine in Various Formulations on the Growth of Barley and Pea Plants in Nutrient Solution Culture. *Annals of Botany*, 35(1), 127–131. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aob.a084451
- Valdebenito, D., Tombesi, S., Tixier, A., Lampinen, B., Brown, P., & Saa, S. (2017). Spur behavior in Almond trees (*Prunus dulcis* [Mill.] DAWebb): Effects of flowers, fruit, and "June drop" on leaf area, leaf nitrogen, spur survival and return bloom. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 215, 15–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2016.11.050
- Vitasse, Y., Baumgarten, F., Zohner, C. M., Rutishauser, T., Pietragalla, B., Gehrig, R., Dai, J.,
  Wang, H., Aono, Y., & Sparks, T. H. (2022). The great acceleration of plant phenological shifts. *Nature Climate Change*, *12*(4), 300–302. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-022-01283-y
- Walker, S. P., Wachs, T. D., Gardner, J. M., Lozoff, B., Wasserman, G. A., Pollitt, E., Carter, J.
  A., & International Child Development Steering Group. (2007). Child development: Risk factors for adverse outcomes in developing countries. *Lancet (London, England)*, 369(9556), 145–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60076-2
- Weikert, C., Trefflich, I., Menzel, J., Obeid, R., Longree, A., Dierkes, J., Meyer, K., Herter-Aeberli, I., Mai, K., Stangl, G. I., Müller, S. M., Schwerdtle, T., Lampen, A., & Abraham, K. (2020). Vitamin and Mineral Status in a Vegan Diet. *Deutsches Arzteblatt International*, *117*(35–36), 575–582. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2020.0575
- Weng, H.-X., Hong, C.-L., Yan, A.-L., Pan, L.-H., Qin, Y.-C., Bao, L.-T., & Xie, L.-L. (2008).
  Mechanism of Iodine Uptake by Cabbage: Effects of Iodine Species and Where It is
  Stored. *Biological Trace Element Research*, *125*(1), 59–71.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-008-8155-2

- Weng, H.-X., Yan, A.-L., Hong, C.-L., Qin, Y.-C., Pan, L., & Xie, L.-L. (2009). Biogeochemical transfer and dynamics of iodine in a soil-plant system. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 31(3), 401–411. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-008-9193-6
- Wong, G. T. F., & Cheng, X.-H. (2001). Dissolved organic iodine in marine waters:role in the estuarine geochemistry of iodine. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 3(2), 257–263. https://doi.org/10.1039/B007229J
- World Health Organization. (2007a). Assessment of iodine deficiency disorders and monitoring their elimination: A guide for programme managers. 1.
- World Health Organization. (2007b). *Iodine deficiency in Europe: A continuing public health* problem. https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/43398
- World Health Organization. (2022, April 27). Maternal, infant and young child nutrition: Sustaining the elimination of iodine deficiency disorders. SEVENTY-FIFTH WORLD HEALTH ASSEMBLY. https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA75/A75\_10Add7en.pdf
- Yadav, D. N., Bansal, S., Tushir, S., Kaur, J., & Sharma, K. (2020). 10—Advantage of biofortification over fortification technologies. In O. P. Gupta, V. Pandey, S. Narwal, P. Sharma, S. Ram, & G. P. Singh (Eds.), *Wheat and Barley Grain Biofortification* (pp. 257–273). Woodhead Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818444-8.00010-9
- Yamaguchi, N., Nakano, M., Takamatsu, R., & Tanida, H. (2010). Inorganic iodine incorporation into soil organic matter: Evidence from iodine K-edge X-ray absorption near-edge structure. *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, 101(6), 451–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2008.06.003

- Yamaguchi, N., Nakano, M., Tanida, H., Fujiwara, H., & Kihou, N. (2006). Redox reaction of iodine in paddy soil investigated by field observation and the I K-Edge XANES fingerprinting method. *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, 86(2), 212–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2005.09.001
- Yanai, M., Kawabata, H., & Takaku, Y. (2022). IODINE ABSORPTION BY APPLE LEAF SURFACES. *Radiation Protection Dosimetry*, 198(13–15), 1200–1204. https://doi.org/10.1093/rpd/ncac159
- Ye, X., Al-Babili, S., Klöti, A., Zhang, J., Lucca, P., Beyer, P., & Potrykus, I. (2000).
  Engineering the provitamin A (beta-carotene) biosynthetic pathway into (carotenoid-free) rice endosperm. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 287(5451), 303–305.
  https://doi.org/10.1126/science.287.5451.303
- Zhang, Y., Cao, H., Wang, M., Zou, Z., Zhou, P., Wang, X., & Jin, J. (2023). A review of iodine in plants with biofortification: Uptake, accumulation, transportation, function, and toxicity. *Science of The Total Environment*, 878, 163203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.163203
- Zhu, Y.-G., Huang, Y.-Z., Hu, Y., & Liu, Y.-X. (2003). Iodine uptake by spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.) plants grown in solution culture: Effects of iodine species and solution concentrations. *Environment International*, 29(1), 33–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0160-4120(02)00129-0
- Zimmermann, M. B. (2008). Research on Iodine Deficiency and Goiter in the 19th and Early 20th Centuries12. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 138(11), 2060–2063. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/138.11.2060

- Zimmermann, M. B. (2009). Iodine Deficiency. *Endocrine Reviews*, *30*(4), 376–408. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2009-0011
- Zimmermann, M. B. (2010). Symposium on 'Geographical and geological influences on nutrition' Iodine deficiency in industrialised countries: Conference on 'Over- and undernutrition: Challenges and approaches.' *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 69(1), 133–143. Cambridge Core. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665109991819
- Zimmermann, M. B. (2013). Iodine: Deficiency Disorders and Prevention Programs. In Encyclopedia of Human Nutrition (pp. 28–32). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-375083-9.00163-X
- Zimmermann, M. B., & Andersson, M. (2021). GLOBAL ENDOCRINOLOGY: Global perspectives in endocrinology: coverage of iodized salt programs and iodine status in 2020. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 185(1), R13–R21. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-21-0171